

Report of the Fifteenth Meeting of the UNAIDS Programme Coordinating Board Geneva, 23 and 24 June 2004

Contents

1.	Opening2
1.1	Opening of the meeting and adoption of the provisional agenda
1.2	Election of Officers
1.3	Consideration of the report of the fourteenth meeting
1.4	Report of the Executive Director, 2003-2004
2.	Coordination and harmonization (the "Three Ones")
3.	Reports by the Chairperson of the Committee of Cosponsoring Organizations and the NGO Representative
4.	Panel discussions on Capacity and HIV Treatment Issues in Scaling up the Response to HIV/AIDS Panel 1 - Strengthening Capacity on HIV/AIDS
5.	Possible Establishment of a PCB Bureau
6.	Cosponsorship
7.	Financial reports
8.	Other matters
8.1	Update on the implementation of the UNGASS on HIV/AIDS Declaration of Commitment18
8.2	Review of the Memorandum of Understanding with the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria
8.3	Update on the Global Coalition on Women and AIDS
8.4	Statement by the representative of the UNAIDS Staff Association Steering Committee21
9.	Next PCB meeting
10.	Adoption of decisions, recommendations and conclusions
Ann	ex 1 - Agenda

1: Opening

1.1 Opening of the meeting and adoption of the provisional agenda

- 1. The fifteenth meeting of the Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS) Programme Coordinating Board (PCB) took place at the Ramada Park Hotel, Geneva, Switzerland, on 23 and 24 June 2004. The participants are listed in Annex 3.
- 2. On behalf of Zambia, the outgoing Chair of the PCB, H.E. Dr Brian Chituwo, Minister of Health, opened the fifteenth meeting of the PCB and welcomed all those attending. Dr Chituwo stated that it had been an honour and a privilege on behalf of Zambia to chair the PCB. In light of various international proclamations, including the United Nations Millennium Development Goals, the Copenhagen Consensus and the World Health Organization (WHO) Commission on Macroeconomics and Health, he felt that the global community had given a broad mandate to UNAIDS to take the fight against the pandemic to higher levels, and he noted that UNAIDS had responded by scaling up activities significantly. He warned against complacency, however, and cited the particular challenges posed by the "3 by 5" Initiative, including his country's own efforts to scale up treatment. He paid tribute to Dr Peter Piot (Executive Director of UNAIDS) and his team and thanked them for their close support during his tenure in office. In closing, he urged all to remain united in the fight against HIV/AIDS.

1.2 Election of officers

- 3. In accordance with agreed procedures, Canada, the previous Vice-Chair, was elected the new Chair of the PCB. Brazil was elected Vice-Chair, and Kenya was elected Rapporteur. The PCB also approved and welcomed the new nongovernmental organization (NGO) delegates and alternate delegates of the PCB for the period 1 January 2005 to 31 December 2006. These were: AMAL Human Development Network (Pakistan) representing Asia as delegate; the Kenya Network of Women with AIDS (KENWA, Kenya) acting as alternate for Africa; Asia Pacific Network of People Living with HIV/AIDS (APN+, Singapore) acting as alternate for Asia; and Network of Sex Work Projects (Brazil), acting as alternate for Latin America/the Caribbean.
- 4. Mr Paul Thibault (President, Canadian International Development Agency) expressed his appreciation for the election of Canada as Chair of the PCB and thanked Zambia for all its hard work for the PCB during the past year. The Chair explained that a drafting group would be established for the meeting and would be open to all, with PCB members having priority to take the floor, followed by observers, and others whom the Chair may invite to speak. Only issues contained in PCB documents circulated by the Secretariat or raised in the PCB plenary would be discussed in the drafting group. The drafting group would draft the decisions, recommendations, and conclusions for each agenda item. These would then be approved in plenary.

1.3 Consideration of the report of the fourteenth meeting

5. The PCB approved, without comment, the report of its fourteenth meeting (UNAIDS/PCB(14)/03.8).

1.4 Report of the Executive Director, 2003-2004

6. Dr Peter Piot (Executive Director, UNAIDS) thanked Mr Chituwo (Minister of Health, Zambia) for the leadership he provided in chairing the PCB during the preceding year and welcomed the prospect of working with Canada as the new PCB Chair. He also thanked Mr Koichiro Matsuura (Executive Director, UNESCO) for the leadership of UNESCO in chairing the Committee of

Cosponsoring Organizations (CCO) and looked forward to working with UNODC, the in-coming chair.

- 7. In response to the request of the PCB that reports of the Executive Director be more analytical and output-oriented and focused on the contributions of UNAIDS at different levels, particularly the coordinated response at country level, Dr Piot submitted his report in two parts. The first part (UNAIDS/PCB(15)/04.3) provided a summary of the achievements of UNAIDS during the biennium 2002-2003 and set out the key challenges facing the world and the Programme in its fight against the epidemic. The second part (UNAIDS/PCB(15)04.2) updated the PCB on the status of the epidemic, summarized the major developments in advancing the global and UN responses, and articulated the programme's strategic approaches to the implementation of the action steps agreed to by the PCB in December 2002.
- 8. Dr Piot noted that the epidemic had entered a new phase, continuing to expand globally and generating more AIDS deaths and more new HIV infections than in any prior year. There was also a growing feminization of the epidemic, and increased societal impact, only beginning to be truly felt, particularly in southern and eastern Africa. Dr Piot expressed concern that without a radical strengthening of the response, the objectives of the UNGASS on HIV/AIDS Declaration of Commitment and the "3 by 5" Initiative would not be achieved.
- 9. In spite of these developments, the global response showed progress in three areas: greater momentum in political leadership, a dramatic increase in financial resources, and a growing body of evidence of what works in responding to the epidemic. For example, China, Indonesia and India, the three most populous countries, had demonstrated significant political leadership and ambitious plans in the fight against the epidemic. Furthermore, between 2001 and 2003, the resources available against HIV/AIDS had increased by nearly 180%. Finally, there was evidence on every continent that effective prevention and treatment were possible. Dr Piot said it was everyone's challenge to capitalize on this triple dynamism.
- Turning to the work of UNAIDS, Dr Piot outlined the achievements of the programme, particularly with regard to its efforts to reinforce its action at country level, as requested by the PCB. He noted the following areas of achievement: (a) HIV/AIDS was more firmly on the agenda of UN country teams; (b) there had been clarification of the functions of the UNAIDS Secretariat (and in particular, the UNAIDS Country Coordinators) within the UN Resident Coordinator System and UN Country Teams; (c) resource allocation by the UNAIDS family to country-level work had increased considerably; (d) UNAIDS' cross-cutting functions had been translated into a set of five strategic objectives and deliverables that now served as the framework for UNAIDS country-level activities; (e) regional directors, regional vice-presidents and their equivalents in all Cosponsors had now been engaged; (f) there had been greater involvement of civil society in the formal national response to AIDS, through Partnership Forums, Global Fund Country Coordinating Mechanisms and through direct funding of grass-roots organisations; (g) UNAIDS had expanded its work in conflict and postconflict situations and had continued to follow up on Security Council Resolution 1308, through its work with the UN Department for Peace Keeping Operations and with uniformed services in over 70 countries; and (h) UNAIDS had submitted, as requested by the PCB, a detailed report of its country activities.
- 11. Dr Piot also noted the continuing challenges in the global response to AIDS. These included: (a) fully funding the response to AIDS; (b) meeting the institutional and human capacity challenge to implement AIDS programming; (c) ensuring coherence and harmonization of AIDS funding approaches to support nationally-led AIDS responses; (d) recognition that the exceptional nature of the AIDS epidemic demanded an equally exceptional response; (e) the need for a comprehensive

response encompassing both prevention and treatment; (f) the need for a gender-friendly approach; and (g) the need for a long term view recognizing that the AIDS epidemic would be with the world for generations to come.

- 12. Dr Piot pointed out that UNAIDS had reached a new level of maturity, with a clear division of responsibilities among its Cosponsors, and a Unified Budget and Workplan that had achieved greater coherence. However, institutional challenges remained with regard to the inclusion of AIDS in broader development, security and trade agendas and in multilateral governance, and in ensuring value-added in the form of "making the money work", particularly at country level. Using new instruments agreed in the UN Development Group, it was necessary for UNAIDS to move from loose coordination through UN Theme Groups on HIV/AIDS to genuine joint and cosponsored UN programmes on AIDS at country level and management excellence in the UNAIDS Secretariat. Dr Piot closed by recalling the "Future Directions of UNAIDS" endorsed by the PCB in 2002, and his view that UNAIDS was now much better placed to play its vital role in the global AIDS movement.
- 13. The PCB thanked Dr Piot for the comprehensive report and considered that UNAIDS had been successful in responding to the request of the PCB to present a report that was more strategic and output-oriented. The PCB noted with satisfaction the achievements of UNAIDS during the last biennium. It recognized that UNAIDS had in particular been successful in mobilizing the UN system and bringing in greater attention and prominence to the epidemic. The response to the epidemic represented one area where the international community was working well together. Furthermore, the PCB noted that UNAIDS had been successful in promoting a strong multi-sectoral and inclusive response, including work in support of peacekeeping and national uniformed services.
- 14. Taking note of the increased challenges for UNAIDS, the PCB urged UNAIDS to continue to focus on performance-based management through hiring for competency and budgeting for results. It further urged that UNAIDS continue to decentralize its management and develop policies on mobility and rotation for its staff.
- 15. The PCB noted with concern the continued spread of the epidemic, including among women worldwide, and in Central and Eastern Europe and the Caribbean. The PCB took note of the analysis of the epidemic presented in the Executive Director's Report, including the areas of concern and in need of increased attention, and agreed that the period 2003–2005 was a turning point in the response with new levels of financing, political commitment and multiplicity of actors. It was now essential to bring these resources together to create a truly effective response. The PCB confirmed that the epidemic did indeed require a long-term view. Among other things, such a view would require a reorientation of donors towards the provision of "long-term emergency assistance".
- 16. The PCB urged UNAIDS to continue to promote and to strengthen a comprehensive response to HIV/AIDS involving a balanced approach among prevention, treatment and impact alleviation. The PCB welcomed the greatly increased focus on treatment, as exemplified by the "3 by 5" Initiative. However, it stressed that prevention must remain a cornerstone of a comprehensive response, not only to prevent new infections but also to reduce stigma and discrimination and to ensure that the delivery of treatment was viable in the long term. In this regard, the PCB urged that prevention be promoted in combination with treatment through basic health services and those for reproductive and sexual health. Where there are concentrated epidemics, the PCB urged that sufficient support be provided for prevention efforts among vulnerable groups such as women, children, men having sex with men, sex workers, and injecting drug users.
- 17. The PCB recognized that neither prevention nor treatment would be achieved if the problems of stigma and discrimination were not tackled. It also urged UNAIDS to take more action on human

rights and security issues and to work more collectively in these areas, particularly to transform theoretical approaches into practical action.

- 18. The PCB stressed that access to technology and the issue of intellectual property rights are priority matters in the context of expanding access to treatment. It urged UNAIDS to become more active in these areas, to promote the implementation of the Doha Declaration on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights (TRIPS) and Public Health, and to assist countries to utilize, where necessary, the flexibilities permitted by the TRIPS Agreement. One PCB member reported that it was developing a network to increase access to basic technology needed for treatment and welcomed other members to join the network.
- 19. The PCB noted with concern the feminization of the epidemic and the gender issues at the root of the vulnerability of both women and men. It welcomed the Global Coalition on Women and AIDS and called on UNAIDS to strengthen the response in gender terms, including linking prevention to sexual and reproductive health, promoting the equality of women, including equality of access to treatment, and ensuring that women and women's issues are included in research. It further urged that UNAIDS take the lead in compiling disaggregated data that highlights the special circumstances of women and children.
- 20. The PCB confirmed that a primary role of UNAIDS was to support the country response. The PCB recognized the increased strength of UNAIDS at country level but also noted a number of issues, including mixed quality of staff, too much focus on internal UN coordination, not enough support from UN Resident Coordinators, and not enough recognition of UNAIDS' efforts. The PCB urged UNAIDS to continue to strengthen its country support through improved selection of staff, integration of staff into the UN Resident Coordinator System and the UN Country Teams, and the recruitment of staff in areas such as resource mobilization, monitoring and evaluation, and partnerships.
- 21. The PCB recognized the growing multiplicity of actors at country level and the challenges this imposed in terms of an effective response and urged UNAIDS to continue to improve coordination in countries, while streamlining as much as possible. The PCB further urged that more effort be made to integrate AIDS into Poverty Reduction Strategy Papers (PRSPs) and Sector-Wide Approaches to Poverty (SWAPs). There is a need for even closer cooperation between local governments and international funding, and UNAIDS can play an important role in coordinating international assistance with local efforts.
- 22. The PCB underlined that many of the most affected countries were operating within the context of high poverty, instability and poor health infrastructure, which were factors that both increase vulnerability to infection as well as are impacted by the epidemic. Noting the crucial importance of effective and equitable health systems, the PCB urged UNAIDS to support countries to strengthen their health systems, as well as maintain and develop the human resources necessary to respond to the epidemic.
- 23. The PCB recognized the significant and successful efforts by UNAIDS to mobilize and track funds, noting with appreciation that UNAIDS' technical assistance to countries had significantly improved their chances of successfully accessing funds from the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria. The next phase—implementing proposals—would also require substantial technical assistance, and the PCB noted that UNAIDS and others would need support for this additional work. The PCB encouraged UNAIDS to continue to promote innovative and exceptional means by which to secure funds, including through debt-relief, medium-term expenditure

frameworks and fiscal ceilings. The PCB cautioned that funding should continue to be additional, so that AIDS and development were not in competition.

- 24. With regard to monitoring and accountability, the PCB requested that UNAIDS provide a means for the PCB to more easily measure progress made at the aggregate level, including with regard to streamlining, improving efficiency, harmonization, coordination, alignment and country analysis. This might take the form of a set of core baseline aggregate indicators for both the Secretariat and the Cosponsors which could be revisited on a regular basis. The PCB urged UNAIDS to continue to make use of the comparative advantages of the cosponsoring organisations in the fight against the epidemic. It further urged the Cosponsors to play a central role in achieving the goals set out in the UNGASS on HIV/AIDS Declaration of Commitment and the Millennium Declaration, and in implementing the "3 by 5" Initiative.
- 25. The PCB confirmed that civil society, particularly people living with HIV and AIDS, is a key partner in the fight against HIV/AIDS, carrying out advocacy, promoting accountability of governments and the United Nations system, and implementing prevention, treatment and care programmes. The PCB asked that UNAIDS continue to support the involvement of civil society, document the best practices of civil society, and with civil society partners, develop indicators by which to monitor and evaluate the involvement of civil society.
- 26. The PCB noted the increased need for technical assistance and recognized the unique role of UNAIDS in the provision of technical assistance. It urged UNAIDS to advocate that those providing technical assistance, e.g., the UN system, public and private sector partners, civil society and NGOs, be sufficiently funded to carry out the necessary work, and supported UNAIDS' efforts to promote innovative and "exceptional" policy options for AIDS funding. It also encouraged UNAIDS to support technical support facilities, including regional and subregional technical networks that would assist in the horizontal transfer of knowledge and capacity.
- 27. The PCB congratulated UNAIDS for its dissemination of best practice and evidence-based information. The PCB encouraged UNAIDS to continue to gather evidence, including with regard to the destabilizing effects of HIV/AIDS on global security and lessons learned from the "3 by 5" and other efforts to scale up treatment regarding the expansion of treatment and the synergy between treatment and prevention.
- 28. Two PCB members noted the joint UNAIDS/UNITAR programme on AIDS—a public/private partnership designed to build capacity and allow for greater experience-sharing and support to communities fighting HIV/AIDS.
- 29. Dr Piot responded to the PCB comments on his Report by highlighting the following issues. With regard to UN reform and increased coordination, Dr Piot pointed out that UNAIDS is often cited both as a model for, and an example of UN reform. Yet UNAIDS is also restrained by the slow progress of overall UN reform, particularly those aspects of reform that seek to make UN country teams more effective.
- 30. With regard to technical assistance, Dr Piot was pleased to note the PCB's consensus on the provision of technical assistance as one of the key functions of UNAIDS. He emphasised that UNAIDS should be a broker of technical assistance, not a "consulting company", and should work to support and utilize existing capacity to the highest degree possible. He agreed that there should be more diversity among those providing technical support, including actors from civil society, and he pledged to support, as well as expand, horizontal capacity.

- 31. On monitoring and evaluation, one of key five functions of UNAIDS, Dr Piot stressed that UNAIDS operates on several levels, but overall is monitoring progress towards the goals of the UNGASS on HIV/AIDS Declaration of Commitment. Dr Piot pointed out that, moving towards a more integrated system, partners have reached agreement on a common set of indicators. Based on the suggestions from the PCB, he would support the addition of aggregate indicators on performance, on the "Three Ones" principles, and on the role of civil society. He stressed that one of the weakest components was monitoring and evaluation at country level. In response, UNAIDS was recruiting monitoring and evaluation specialists to build country capacity. On thematic evaluations, Dr Piot agreed that more of these were needed, including one on the role of NGOs in the PCB, as requested by the NGO representatives.
- 32. With regard to mainstreaming AIDS into development instruments, Dr Piot reported that only one third of poverty reduction strategy papers in Africa fully take into account the epidemic. He hoped that the integration of AIDS issues into these papers could be accelerated. Regarding the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria, Dr Piot said that the goal of UNAIDS was to support countries to benefit from the Global Fund. Dr Piot reported that in Round 3, 50% of countries that received UNAIDS' support were successful in their applications to the Global Fund versus only 13% of those that did not have UNAIDS' support. The next challenge was to support countries in implementation, and UNAIDS was already besieged with requests for support.

2: Coordination and harmonization (the "Three Ones")

- 33. Dr Peter Piot (Executive Director, UNAIDS) introduced the concept of the "Three Ones" by referring to the meeting on 25 April 2004 in Washington, D.C., cohosted by UNAIDS, the United Kingdom and the United States, at which key donors reaffirmed their commitment to strengthening a national AIDS response led by the affected countries themselves. They endorsed the "Three Ones" principles to achieve the most effective and efficient use of resources and to ensure rapid action and results-based management. These principles were:
 - One agreed HIV/AIDS action framework that provides the basis for coordinating the work of all partners;
 - One national AIDS coordinating authority, with a broad-based multisectoral mandate;
 - One agreed country-level monitoring and evaluation system.
- 34. Dr Piot stressed that the "Three Ones" concept was not another buzzword or slogan but rather a fundamental principle by which to govern the response at national level. Taken singly these principles were not new, but when applied simultaneously and consistently upheld by all stakeholders, they held the key to effective and sustainable national responses. Dr Piot said that the "Three Ones" were based on lessons learnt, and though they required discipline, they left space for plurality. UNAIDS' role in the application of the principles was broadly spelled out in the agreement that emerged from the April meeting in Washington, as contained in UNAIDS/PCB(15)/04.4.
- 35. Dr Piot asked that the PCB endorse the "Three Ones" principles and his decision that UNAIDS resources be directed towards: (a) developing tools and consensus on ways of operationalizing the "Three Ones"; (b) developing indicators by which to monitor their application; (c) supporting the implementation of country processes to put the principles into practice; (d) linking these processes with global processes, e.g., the Millennium Development Goals and the OECD/DAC harmonization agenda; and (e) reporting annually on progress made.
- 36. The PCB thanked Dr Piot for his presentation of the "Three Ones" principles. The PCB agreed that during the past year, the challenges regarding the multiplicity of actors and coordination of

efforts at country level had increased substantially. The PCB acknowledged that with UNAIDS' efforts, UN coordination at country level had improved, but the PCB also felt there was room for further improvement. It stated that better coordination was not the goal *per se*. Rather, the goal was more efficient support to countries through better coordination. The PCB stressed that lack of coordination should not be an excuse for slowing down the response.

- 37. The PCB welcomed the fact that UNAIDS had reacted promptly to the increased challenges of coordination by defining, with the "Three Ones", a set of core principles for coordinated action by all stakeholders at country level. The PCB gave its full support to the "Three Ones" and confirmed that they represented operational principles critical to making the response to HIV/AIDS more effective and efficient. The challenge was to translate these into concrete action.
- 38. PCB members representing recipient countries pointed out that, though they were very appreciative of the financial support for their national programmes, they expended a large amount of resources on the many different administrative requirements of donors. Furthermore, they stressed that mitional plans must be developed by the countries themselves, with all stakeholders involved, and that it was essential to respect this process and not impose plans from outside.
- 39. The PCB acknowledged that active UN support and UNAIDS country representation had important roles to play in operationalizing the "Three Ones". The PCB also stressed that it would be necessary for governments, donors and other partners to play their part in ensuring that the principles were adhered to. It welcomed the fact that Dr Piot had placed the "Three Ones" in the broader context of the overall OECD/DAC agenda on harmonization and existing coordination and harmonisation mechanisms, such as SWAPs, PRSPs, pooled funding arrangements and budget support, and it urged UNAIDS to build on these experiences. The "Three Ones" should be viewed as an "urgent special case" in light of the exceptionalism of AIDS and the current boost in the number of actors and volume of funding involved.
- 40. The PCB suggested that the "Three Ones" become a priority for UNAIDS at country level and that UNAIDS increase its capacity to fulfil the role that the "Three Ones" and its implementation would require. The PCB urged UNAIDS to develop pragmatic approaches to translate the "Three Ones" into practice. In particular, it suggested UNAIDS help partners to address issues such as coordination between national HIV authorities and Country Coordinating Mechanisms, linking the National AIDS strategy to PRSPs and other national planning instruments. The PCB expressed interest in knowing more about the support that the UN was providing to national AIDS authorities to help harmonize not just UN support, but other partners' support as well. One PCB member urged that UNAIDS focus on: the "what", a true national action framework versus a collection of partners; the "who", someone who can provide guidance to partners on behalf of the national programme; and the "how", model mechanisms by which to facilitate coordination. The PCB suggested that any agreements should engage the responsibilities and commitments of all those involved through the concepts of rights and duties.
- 41. The PCB stressed that efforts to implement the "Three Ones" should not create new structures but make existing structures more efficient. The PCB endorsed the idea of one national coordinating committee and expressed its approval for a unified approach. The PCB felt that Country Coordinating Mechanisms should not parallel or duplicate the work of National AIDS Councils. The PCB further suggested that the implementation of the "Three Ones" should result in better coordination of sources of funding, involve civil society and people living with HIV and AIDS, be directed toward support of health systems, and be based on an analysis of existing problems. One PCB member suggested the development of a Code of Conduct in rolling out the "Three Ones" with

due regard to keeping transaction costs for such a Code at a minimum. Another PCB member asked that the "Three Ones" be put into action at the international level as well as at the national level.

- 42. The PCB suggested that UNAIDS identify a few pilot countries in which to test the workability of the concept of the "Three Ones", with due regard to the fact that its application must be tailored to country-specific circumstances. The PCB asked to be kept informed in upcoming reports on the status of the "Three Ones", including their added value, concrete impact, difficulties encountered, lessons learned, and useful modalities.
- 43. A number of PCB members expressed interest in working with partners to examine the possibility of a fourth "One"—that is, to find mechanisms by which to advance more unified funding at country level, including pooling finances, for HIV/AIDS. Action toward a fourth "One" could include: donors increasing transparency with regard to their contributions at global and national levels, strengthening UNAIDS' capacity to track funding, exploring ways to harmonize major investments and avoid inconsistencies in funding, and respecting the wishes of governments. One PCB member suggested that lessons should be learned from those who are able to disburse funds quickly at country level since this was the goal.
- 44. Dr Piot responded by emphasizing that UNAIDS is fully aware of the enormous challenges posed by implementing the "Three Ones". In some countries, the State and/or the National AIDS Commission were weak and the performance of the UN was uneven. In some places, the UN was still running projects, when it should be building capacity. Dr Piot agreed that it would be important to involve civil society fully and to develop a clear set of indicators and goals for its involvement. He stated that UNAIDS is working on model processes to suit different circumstances. Based on these, UNAIDS would initiate action in selected countries. He felt that the development of a Code of Conduct should be possible, starting with a commitment to efforts such as coordinated joint missions to countries.
- 45. Regarding the idea of a fourth "One", Dr Piot noted that such a concept was not part of the present agreement, but he welcomed the involvement of donors who were able, in light of their internal political realities, to contribute to improved coordination of funding at country level.

3: Reports by the Chairperson of the Committee of Cosponsoring Organizations and the NGO Representative

- 46. Mr Koichiro Matsuura (Director-General, UNESCO) representing UNESCO as Chair of the Committee of Cosponsoring Organizations (CCO) presented the Report by the Chairperson of the Committee of Cosponsoring Organizations (UNAIDS/PCB(15)04.5). Mr Matsuura began his remarks by saying it had been an honour to serve as Chairperson of the CCO during the past year, and he thanked all the Cosponsors, as well Dr Piot and the UNAIDS Secretariat, for their support and cooperation.
- 47. Mr Matsuura noted the significant developments of the last year which involved increased funding; moves towards enlargement of the family of the UNAIDS Cosponsors; and contributions by the Cosponsors in their respective field of intervention, namely UNICEF towards girls education and prevention of mother-to-child transmission, UNDP in national capacity-building, UNFPA in prevention of sexual transmission of HIV, WHO in the strengthening of treatment programmes, the ILO through HIV/AIDS workplace strategies, UNODC to reduce transmission through injecting drug use, UNESCO through prevention education, the World Bank through the Multi-country AIDS Program, and WFP through the use of food aid as part of the response to the epidemic.

- 48. Mr Matsuura stated that the most significant development of the past year was the launch of four major programme-wide initiatives: the "3 by 5" Initiative by WHO and UNAIDS; UNICEF's scaled-up initiative for orphans and vulnerable children; the co-leadership of WFP and UNAIDS of the UN response to the food insecurity crisis in Southern Africa; and the UNESCO Global Initiative to Expand Prevention Education against HIV/AIDS. Collectively, these initiatives indicated that the struggle against the HIV/AIDS epidemic continued to be urgent, dynamic, innovative and adaptive.
- 49. Mr Matsuura stated that the most important of these initiatives was the "3 by 5" Initiative which was supported by all Cosponsors and provided a valuable framework for the coordination and the synergy of their efforts. It was also the most challenging in terms of resources, organization, logistics, training, and auxiliary services, including treatment education.
- 50. Mr Matsuura stated that UNESCO, in its capacity as CCO Chair had also organised the 23rd CCO meeting in Southern Africa in Livingstone, Zambia in March 2004, at the invitation of H.E. Brian Chituwo, Zambia's Minister of Health and then Chair of the PCB. Mr Montador, representing Canada, then the Vice-Chair of the PCB, was also present. Mr Matsuura felt that the meeting helped to draw the world's attention to the HIV/AIDS crisis of Southern Africa, as well as enhance multilateral cooperation, and address cosponsorship within UNAIDS and coordination at country level. The heads of agencies also attended a meeting which brought together for the first time Ministers of Health, Education and Finance from six Southern African countries to jointly address the HIV/AIDS epidemic in a frank, wide-ranging and constructive way.
- 51. Mr Matsuura underlined, however, that such efforts were still no match for the HIV/AIDS epidemic. While noting the crucial importance of the "3 by 5 Initiative, he made a special plea for Member States to pay more attention to prevention and reducing the rate of new infections. He stressed the need for a generic programme for prevention education that was at the same time simple, standardized and comprehensive, yet sensitive to the cultural specificities of each country and community. He closed by citing the evolution of UNAIDS, which in addition to coordination and information exchange, was also performing an important catalytic role.
- 52. Mr Antonio Maria Costa (Executive Director, UNODC) took the opportunity as incoming Chair of the CCO, to provide the PCB with some background on the work of his Office in the field of HIV/AIDS, with emphasis on the activities planned during the year in which UNODC would be the CCO Chair. UNODC's HIV-related activities focused on injecting drug users, HIV in prisons, and the trafficking of persons for sexual exploitation in conflict and post-conflict situations—all tragic situations of greatly increased vulnerability to HIV which could also result in increased infection among the general population. Mr Costa assured the PCB that addressing HIV/AIDS in these contexts would be an important aspect of the work-programme of the UNODC in the coming years and would complement the foundation already laid down by the CCO.
- 53. The PCB thanked Mr Matsuura for his overview of CCO and Cosponsor activities and congratulated the Cosponsors for their individual, as well as joint achievements and multisectoral activities. It urged the Cosponsors and the UNAIDS Secretariat to continue to improve the UNAIDS partnership, especially at country level.
- 54. The PCB noted that there were a number of reports issuing from the Cosponsors, namely the report of the Chair of the CCO to the PCB and the individual reports of the Cosponsors on their HIV/AIDS activities to their own boards. The PCB considered that these multiple reports did not enable it to have a complete and clear picture of all the activities of the Cosponsors in the area of HIV/AIDS. The PCB therefore requested that there be consideration of ways to harmonize the reporting so that the PCB became a forum in which the Cosponsors detailed all their HIV activities.

It was suggested that if this was too lengthy, then the PCB could concentrate on a few countries at each PCB meeting. One member of the PCB also stressed the importance of harm reduction strategies for the reduction of HIV infection among injecting drug users. He urged UNODC to assist countries in these strategies.

- 55. Dr Piot agreed that the suggestion to harmonize the reports of the Cosponsors to the various boards would reduce the workload but would also depend on PCB member governments to not request different reports in the respective Board meetings. He expressed his willingness to work with PCB members on this issue.
- 56. Dr Ruben Mayorga (Executive Director, Organizacion de Apozo a una Sexualidad Integral frenta al SIDA, OASIS) representing Latin America and the Caribbean, Nongovernmental Organizations/People Living with HIV/AIDS, presented the Report of the NGO Representative. Dr Mayorga began by saying that, in the spirit of public-private sector partnerships, the PCB NGO delegates wished to highlight the individual and collective shortcomings in action that have exacerbated the HIV/AIDS epidemic. Among other things, he noted that the commitments made at UNGASS on HIV/AIDS for prevention, treatment and the reduction of stigma and discrimination had not been sufficiently realized. He expressed the view that universal access to treatment had been undermined by free trade agreements and the lack of application of the flexibility provided by the Doha Ministerial Declaration on Public Health and the TRIPS Agreement. UN agencies had not allocated sufficient funding to support the human resources needed for technical assistance. Civil society had been neither highly valued nor engaged, even though an effective public-civil society partnership was critical for the response. Nor had the essentials for effective prevention, care and treatment been mobilized or provided.
- 57. Dr Mayorga made a number of recommendations on behalf of the NGO Representatives. He urged developed countries to meet their OECD commitment of Official Development Assistance to the level of 0.7% of their GNP, and African countries to assign 15% of national budgets to health, as promised in the Abuja Declaration. He further urged all countries to enact legislation to protect privacy and fight discrimination; donor countries to honour the Doha Ministerial Declaration on Public Health and the TRIPS agreement and maintain the right of all to declare HIV/AIDS a health emergency; UNAIDS to promote gender-sensitive programming that would address the needs of women; for UNAIDS Cosponsors and Member States to support evidence-based prevention; for UNAIDS to address marginalized populations; for all stakeholders to strengthen civil society and make it more visible including through the development of a set of indicators to measure civil society's input and to include evaluation and reporting of that input in all relevant documents.
- 58. One PCB member pointed out that with regard to treatment, the involvement of civil society was critical in four areas: treatment advocacy; treatment literacy; service provision; and treatment adherence. Following a meeting of WHO, the UNAIDS Secretariat and the World Bank, the role of civil society in increasing access to treatment had been more clearly defined, and resources had been committed to fund civil society activities in this area. The need to focus on prevention and marginalized groups was supported.

4: Panel discussions on Capacity and HIV Treatment Issues in Scaling up Responses to HIV/AIDS

Panel 1: Strengthening Capacity on HIV/AIDS

59. Ms Jane Haycock (Health Advisor, Department for International Development, [DFID] United Kingdom) served as Chair and Discussant for Panel 1 on "Strengthening Capacity on HIV and

- AIDS". Ms Haycock opened the panel discussion by stressing the need to find ways to build capacity to deliver basic social services as well as mount a response to HIV/AIDS, while dealing with system weaknesses and the impact of the epidemic. She presented as possible priority sectors: health, agriculture, education, uniformed services, and civil services. She urged PCB members to consider from their own perspectives short- and long-term capacity needs, gaps in understanding capacity, and AIDS exceptionalism. The floor was then given to the panellists, as follows.
- 60. Mr Walter Franco (Deputy Assistant Administrator and Director of the Bureau for Development Policy, UNDP) pointed out that, since funding had increased and the cost of treatment had fallen, the most serious constraint to an effective response was human and institutional capacity. He described aspects of five current challenges relating to capacity: the challenge of time and leadership; the community capacity challenge; the challenge of generating multisectoral responses; the challenge of reinventing government's response; and the challenge to deliver basic social services.
- 61. Mr Austere Panadero (Vice-Chair of the Philippines National AIDS Council and Assistant Secretary of the Department of Interior and Local Government, Philippines) presented the case study of the Philippines. He described the positive parameters of the response in the Philippines which included: the Philippine National AIDS Council; a broad-based multisectoral AIDS programme that involved communities, schools and workplaces; enabling legislation; and the beginning of a single monitoring and evaluation system. He pointed out, however, that in spite of this context very few local government units had the capacity to implement effective local responses to HIV/AIDS. To help capacitate local governments, the National AIDS Council had begun to put together a starter tool kit which was based on local interventions that had already proven to be effective in the Philippines. Once this tool kit was completed, there would be a need to facilitate its transfer to local governments. Mr Panadero closed by highlighting other challenges involved in better equipping local communities to mount an effective response.
- 62. Dr Rex Mpayanje (Director of Clinical Services, Ministry of Health, Malawi) and Dr Erik Schouten (HIV/AIDS Coordinator, Ministry of Health, Malawi) focused on the capacity challenges involved in scaling up the response in Malawi. Dr Schouten identified the shortage of human resources in the health sector as the most important factor limiting scaling up, pointing out that Malawi had only 1.6 doctors and 28.6 nurses per 100 000 people. He went on to say, however, that with the help of UNAIDS and the Global Fund there had been a paradigm shift that would allow more resources, including Global Fund monies, to be devoted to the human resource crisis. Dr Schouten said it would be helpful if UNAIDS would provide further assistance in the implementation phase of scaling up and act as a watchdog, broker and conflict manager at country level.
- 63. Dr Mariangela Batista Galvao Simao (Head, International Cooperation Unit, National AIDS Programme, Ministry of Health, Brazil) spoke on behalf of Dr Alexandre Grangiero (National Coordinator for Sexually Transmitted Diseases and HIV/AIDS, Ministry of Health, Brazil). Dr Galvao Simao stressed the urgent needs in Latin America and the Caribbean to reinforce national AIDS programmes, confront the spread of the epidemic and sustain national public health programmes. In light of these needs, the Horizontal Technical Cooperation Group, together with seven regional NGO networks in the region, proposed the organization of a retwork to promote technical assistance. This network would not provide technical assistance directly, but would facilitate cooperation by articulating the expertise available in national programmes. Towards the creation of such a network, a self-assessment tool was circulated throughout the region to identify technical assistance needs. The results included: harm reduction, access to diagnosis, interventions for men having sex with men and prisoners, the social marketing of condoms, laboratory support, access to services and social support for treatment, adherence, resource management, development

of human resources, logistics, information systems, monitoring and evaluation, strengthening NGOs, and human rights. It was intended that the network would connect those in need of technical assistance with those who could provide it.

- 64. Ms Jane Haycock (Health Advisor, DFID, UK) noted the clear call to action on the crisis in capacity as outlined by the panel. She stated that the panel had shown that in many countries HIV/AIDS was weakening the ability to respond faster than these countries can build capacity. She said it was clear that short-term strategies are needed immediately to fill existing capacity gaps, as are strategies for medium- and long-term needs. Within such strategies, there was role for all to play, including the increased involvement of civil society and the hands-on involvement of people living with HIV/AIDS. Areas for priority included human rights, expansion of care, literacy in anti-retroviral therapy, and ongoing prevention efforts. UNAIDS should continue to lead in advocacy but shift to supporting implementation, particularly by stressing equity, support to the poorest, and harmonisation through the application of the "Three Ones" principles. Countries should focus on good governance, inclusion and accountability. Donors and others should avoid practices that lead to "brain drain" and should support country processes and the transfer of knowledge.
- 65. The PCB confirmed that a crisis in human capacity exists across all sectors, but particularly in health, education and food production. The PCB recognized the "mismatch" between greatly increased funding and insufficient institutional and human resources, leading to situations where countries have funds but lack the capacity to use them, and have plans but lack the capacity to implement them. The PCB noted the critical factors negatively affecting capacity. These included attrition due to the AIDS epidemic; the movement of trained staff to developed countries, NGOs and international agencies; and restrictive international monetary policies. In addition to insufficient numbers of health-care staff, the capacity of health-care workers was lessened where there was fear and stigma associated with caring for people living with HIV and AIDS.
- 66. The PCB called on governments, international agencies and NGOs to put the issue of human capacity high on their agendas, including doing their own part to prevent "brain drain". The PCB confirmed that UNAIDS had a leading role to play in identifying short- and long-term capacity needs, as well as in assisting countries to develop and implement plans to address these needs. The PCB urged governments to overcome rigidity in their own public administrative system and become creative and pro-active in engaging more participation of civil society in the response. The PCB stressed that lack of capacity should not be a reason for donors not to give; rather, there was need for investment that would strengthen capacity, including among governmental and nongovernmental entities and through horizontal cooperation. The PCB underlined that the key challenge was to sustain an urgent response to AIDS over the long-term.

Panel 2: Scaling up Access to HIV Treatment

- 67. Mr J.V.R. Prasado Rao, (Health Secretary, India) acted as Chair and discussant for the second panel on scaling up access to HIV treatment. Mr Rao pointed out that though increased access to treatment would have a profound effect on the lives of those affected as well as on prevention, scaling up access remained very complex, expensive and controversial. Mr Rao urged the session to focus on the constraints to scaling up and ways to overcome them. The floor was then given to the panellists, as follows.
- 68. Dr Gottfried Hirnschall (Director, Partnerships, External Relations and Communications, Department of HIV/AIDS, WHO) provided an overview of the key challenges posed by the "3 by 5" Initiative at country level. He described these as follows: (a) to identify resources; (b) to utilize already committed resources; (c) to identify effective ways of working together; (d) to receive the

technical assistance necessary to build capacity; (e) to move beyond the public sector to build true partnerships with the private sector and civil society; and (f) to ensure a comprehensive response addressing prevention, treatment and care. He described WHO's contributions in these areas and noted that WHO was currently in the process of completing a "3 by 5" Progress Report which would analyze the progress in a number of countries and identify barriers to scale up.

- 69. Dr Elhadj Sy (Director, Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria) pointed out that the vast majority of people living with HIV/AIDS still did not know that they were HIV positive. This was but one of the major constraints to the challenge of expanding treatment, a challenge that would necessarily involve and require multiple entry points for a host of actors. The Global Fund was one of these actors and had increasingly made treatment a priority, due in part to the initiatives of countries. The result was that the Global Fund was now one of the largest funders of AIDS treatment programmes. Dr Sy described a number of challenges, such as procurement and supply management, including delays in distribution and problems with the rational use of drugs. With regard to human capacity, he confirmed that the Global Fund had become more flexible in recognizing the human resource component of expanding access to treatment.
- 70. Dr Perry Gomez (Director, National AIDS Programme, Bahamas) gave a presentation on scaling up access to AIDS treatment in the Caribbean, the region with the second highest HIV prevalence after sub-Saharan Africa. Dr Gomez pointed out that 70% of people living with HIV/AIDS in Latin America have access to antiretrovirals; whereas only 7% in Caribbean countries have such access even though the region had successfully negotiated drug price reductions. He stated that the challenges in the Caribbean to the expansion of treatment included insufficient political will, insufficient commitment to care by the medical communities, poor coordination among actors on the ground, weak health systems and human resource capacity, and insecure access to affordable generics, especially after January 2005. Dr Gomez noted that the Bahamas was one of the counties in the region where political will had led to a strong national response to HIV/AIDS. In closing, Dr Gomez stated that the way forward for the Caribbean to achieve urgent and universal access to treatment for 76 000 people living with HIV/AIDS in the region must involve enhancing and coordinating technical assistance and cooperation, strengthening health systems, and achieving access to a sustainable drug supply.
- 71. Ms Dana Otilia Farscanu (Counsellor to the Minister of Health, Romania) described the Romanian programme to provide universal access to antiretroviral therapy which had been judged a success by a joint WHO/UNAIDS assessment in 2003. Ms Farscanu stated that the building blocks of this success included political commitment, the strong involvement of people living with HIV/AIDS, partnership with civil society and the private sector, international support through the UN Theme Group on HIV/AIDS, an effectively coordinated national response, sufficient resource mobilization and supporting national legislation. These factors had allowed the country to steadily and rapidly build the capacity to implement effective interventions in both prevention and care. She pointed out that antiretroviral treatment was covered entirely by government funds.
- 72. Ms Marie de Canival (Principal Investigator, SIDACTION) reported on research investigating the feasibility of increasing access to treatment through the work of community-based organizations. She pointed out that community-based organizations represented a large potential for medical care in that they were already providing health care services to an estimated 250 000 people. Given their established relationship with affected communities and existing expertise in AIDS care, they comprised a ready-made vehicle for antiretroviral roll out. After presenting evidence of existing activities and achievements of community-based care, she urged the international community and governments to support community-based organizations to scale up by recognizing their legitimacy

and professionalism, funding them to recruit skilled personnel and expand, and utilizing them to implement decentralized and equitable access.

- 73. PCB members thanked the panel for its interesting discussion of the challenges and opportunities regarding expansion of access to treatment. The PCB urged UNAIDS and countries to promote expanded treatment in the context of national ownership, decentralization and equity. The PCB underscored the critical need to strengthen national health systems as greater access was achieved over the following decades lest access to antiretrovirals meant that other crucial health needs went unmet.
- 74. The PCB reiterated its concern that expansion in treatment be accomplished within a comprehensive response to the epidemic that also accelerated prevention; otherwise, the situation would not be sustainable. The PCB confirmed that community-based organizations represented an invaluable resource for scaling up; however, they would need training and support in diagnostics, assessment, adherence and social support. One PCB member expressed concern that given restrictions on the acquisition of antiretrovirals, and the possibility of prices rising, there was a great risk that access to treatment in Latin America and the Caribbean would not be sustainable.
- 75. The PCB thanked those who participated in both panels and thanked UNAIDS for taking the innovative step to organize panel discussions. It welcomed the opportunities the panels gave for more concrete discussion and feedback regarding country-level challenges. It encouraged UNAIDS to continue to explore ways to improve and deepen discussions on crucial policy, strategy and programmatic areas, and to create opportunities for even more interactive and strategic debate.

5: Possible Establishment of a PCB Bureau

- 76. H.E. Dr Brian Chituwo (Minister of Health, Zambia) introduced this item in his role as former Chair of the PCB. He noted that the 14th PCB meeting had requested the PCB Chair, Vice-Chair, and the UNAIDS Secretariat, to explore the desirability of establishing a PCB Bureau, and propose options regarding its mandate, roles, functions and membership for decision at the next PCB meeting. To respond to this request, the PCB Chair held consultations with the Secretariat as well as with Member States, Cosponsors and NGOs. These consultations resulted in proposals for the PCB to consider and approve, as described in UNAIDS/PCB(15)/04.7.
- 77. Broad consensus had been reached on: the guiding principles; mandate, role and functions; and on the time frame of the Bureau. Two options were presented for PCB consideration regarding membership. The first option included the PCB Chair, Vice-Chair, Rapporteur, one Cosponsor Representative and one NGO/PLWHA representative. The second option included the PCB Chair, Vice-Chair, representation from each of the remaining regional groups, one Cosponsor Representative and one NGO/PLWHA representative. One PCB member proposed that the second option be adopted, requesting that the terms "flexibility and open communication" be clarified, that "mandate, roles and functions" be merged into the Bureau's terms of reference, and that an equitable geographic representation in the Bureau be taken into account. An open-ended working group comprising interested members and chaired by the PCB Chair met to discuss these issues. The PCB concluded by approving the first option for Bureau membership.
- 78. The PCB thanked the former PCB Chair, the UNAIDS Secretariat and others who had been involved in the discussions concerning the possible establishment of a Bureau. The PCB confirmed its desire to have a Bureau with a view that such a Bureau would increase its efficiency, optimize its management at minimum cost, and lead to better communication. The PCB underlined that the Bureau should add value to the management and performance of the PCB and confirmed that it

would function for a two-year trial period following which a review of the Bureau would be undertaken to assess the value added.

6: Cosponsorship

- 79. Dr Kathleen Cravero (Deputy Executive Director, UNAIDS) introduced the item as detailed in UNAIDS/PCB(15)04.8. Dr Cravero pointed out that UNAIDS was created almost ten years ago through Economic and Social Council Resolution (ECOSOC) 1994/24 of 26 July 1994, with six UNsystem cosponsoring organizations. The Programme was designed to draw on the experience and strengths of the Cosponsors and to promote a broad-based response in countries involving a wide range of sectors and institutions. ECOSOC Resolution 1994/24 also spoke of the "urgent need to mobilise fully all United Nations system organizations in a coordinated manner and according to the comparative advantage of each organization."
- 80. Dr Cravero pointed out that the last ten years had witnessed a rapid spread of the epidemic, which in turn had led to widening UN system interest in combating HIV/AIDS. The original six cosponsors had grown to nine with the addition of UNODC, ILO and WFP. Most recently, in a letter of December 2003 to the UNAIDS Executive Director, UNHCR had requested to join as a Cosponsor.
- 81. Dr Cravero outlined the process by which new Cosponsors were accepted and stated that, to date, this process had worked well. The process comprised a number of distinct steps, such as demonstration of a clear recognition of the impact of HIV/AIDS in an organization's work, stepped-up action on HIV/AIDS, fulfilment of existing criteria as outlined by the CCO in Document..., approval by the organization's governing board for its AIDS-related work, and the submission of an official request to join UNAIDS as a Cosponsor. This request was reviewed by the other Cosponsors individually and through the CCO.
- 82. Because it was likely that interest in joining UNAIDS would continue, Dr Cravero reported that at its last meeting in March 2004 the CCO considered the implications of increased cosponsorship. These included: (a) the budget (e.g., continued expansion of the UBW); (b) governance (Secretariat transaction costs); and (c) management (complex/time-consuming consultative process). The CCO made several proposals for consideration by the PCB, which are outlined in paragraphs below.
- 83. With regard to Cosponsor participation in the PCB, it was proposed that six Cosponsors, to be selected by the Cosponsors, would be represented at any given PCB. It was further proposed that a new Cosponsor would be admitted during the six months following UBW approval, giving the new Cosponsor time to get ready for participation in the next UBW.
- 84. Finally, the CCO proposed additional criteria to the existing criteria for Cosponsorship. These included: a functional HIV/AIDS workplace policy; no less than US\$ 4 million of the organization's own resources earmarked for HIV/AIDS; the organization's own resources for HIV activities being greater than what the organization received from the core UBW; HIV/AIDS activities underway at country level in at least 40% of the countries where the organization had a permanent country presence; and a track record of active participation in UN Theme Groups on HIV/AIDS at country level.
- 85. The PCB welcomed WFP and UNHCR as new Cosponsors of the Programme, acknowledging that the expertise they brought would strengthen the response to the epidemic. The PCB also welcomed the trend of more UN agencies becoming interested in supporting HIV-related activities.

PCB members felt that this was due in part to the growing devastation caused by the epidemic and in part to the good performance of UNAIDS.

86. The PCB appreciated the step-by-step process, the use of well-defined criteria, the involvement of the PCB in the process, and the opportunity for periodic review of compliance. With regard to the proposed additional criteria, the PCB urged that there be: (a) greater focus on the quality of cosponsor performance, particularly with regard to support to countries and the "Three Ones" principle; (b) ongoing efforts to monitor and minimize the transaction costs of increased coordination challenges, particularly at country level and in the UN Theme Groups on HIV/AIDS; (c) ongoing efforts to monitor the impact of increased cosponsorship on the UBW; and (d) maintenance of a variety of mechanisms by which to take part in the expanded response to the epidemic, other than cosponsorship. One PCB member expressed concern that the UBW could increase too rapidly as it strives to keep pace with a growing number of cosponsors. It requested that the UNAIDS Secretariat and Cosponsors explore mechanisms by which to address this concern. Another PCB member asked that there be consideration of inclusion of criteria by which to exclude applicants. The PCB welcomed the proposals of the CCO to strengthen the criteria for cosponsorship of UNAIDS, and requested that the CCO regularly review compliance by the Cosponsors with the established criteria, both existing and new. The PCB further requested that the implications of an increasing number of Cosponsors with regard to the UBW, the UNAIDS Secretariat and UN Theme Groups on HIV/AIDS at country level be monitored on an ongoing basis.

7: Financial Reports

- 87. Dr Kathleen Cravero (Deputy Executive Director, UNAIDS) introduced the financial reports by referring to two documents: "Financial Report and audited financial statement for the financial period 1 January 2002 to 31 December 2003 and Report of the external auditor" (UNAIDS/PCB(15)/04.09), and "Interim financial management information for the 2004-2005 biennium and financial update as at 30 April 2004" (UNAIDS/PCB(15)/04.10). Dr Cravero pointed out that the opinion of the external auditor was a clean opinion, with no observations, as in all previous financial periods.
- 88. Dr Cravero highlighted the significant financial developments which occurred since the last PCB meeting. She was pleased to state that, in the biennium which ended 31 December 2003, income received for the UBW exceeded PCB targets. Out of a total amount of US\$ 217.9 million received, over 93% was received from 30 donor governments. The remainder was accounted for by funds received from the World Bank (3.6%), interest on income (2.7%), and miscellaneous donations (0.4%). Dr Cravero thanked all the governments and other contributors for their financial support of UNAIDS. She further pointed out that almost 100% of the 2002-2003 UBW was financially implemented as planned by 31 December 2003.
- 89. With regard to the 2004-2005 UBW, Dr Cravero reminded the PCB that it had approved a total core budget of US\$ 250.5 million to be distributed as follows: US\$ 85.7 million for Cosponsors, US\$ 91.2 million for the Secretariat, and US\$ 73.6 million for interagency activities. Subject to availability of funding during 2004-2005, the PCB also approved an additional interagency core budget of US\$ 20 million beyond the US\$ 250.5 million core budget.
- 90. Ten per cent of the income required for the 2004-2005 UBW had been received by 30 April 2004, which was lower than the 17% received by the same time in the previous biennium. The programme expenditure as of 30 April 2004 was US\$ 109 million. This was made possible by the carry-over from the previous biennium and the contributions received to date.

- 91. Additional funds were needed in 2004 as follows: US\$ 2.4 million from the funds carried over as a matching contribution to cover the Secretariat's share of the 10% increase in the construction costs of the new premises; a further US\$ 3 million to cover the cost of installation into the new premises; and US\$ 1.4 million to strengthen security measures at country level in compliance with the revised UN Minimum Operating Security Standards in the field. This financial situation resulted in a shortfall of US\$ 5.1 million as at 30 April which was covered by borrowing from the Operating Reserve. In light of this shortfall, Dr Cravero encouraged donors to make their annual contributions as soon as possible.
- 92. Dr Cravero reported that, as at 24 June 2004, programme expenditure, including funds transferred to Cosponsors, amounted to US\$ 113.9 million. New contributions in the amount of US\$ 8.6 million were received since 30 April, bringing the total to US\$ 34.4 million. Dr Cravero thanked the PCB members which had announced contributions and underlined the pressing need for timely and increased contributions to continue the momentum of programme implementation and the Programme's need to implement the PCB decisions.
- 93. One PCB member announced its contribution for 2004 and urged other donors to honour their commitments to the Programme and make their contributions in priority to the core budget.

8: Other matters

8.1 Update on the implementation of the UNGASS Declaration of Commitment

- 94. Dr Werasit Sittitrai (Director, Programme Development, Coordination and UN System Relations, UNAIDS Secretariat) introduced the update on the implementation of the UNGASS on HIV/AIDS Declaration of Commitment (UNAIDS/PCB(15)/04.11). Dr Sittitrai characterized the Declaration of Commitment as a benchmark for global action which had helped to refine the National Strategic Plans, set time-bound targets and clarified responsibilities of all parties.
- 95. Ms Nicole Massoud (Monitoring and Evaluation Officer, UNAIDS Secretariat) continued with a presentation of achievements to date under the targets set by the Declaration of Commitment. She cited as overall achievements progress in national leadership, political commitment and policy development which were part of 2003 targets. Unfortunately, there was insufficient progress in policy implementation. In terms of gender, nearly one third of countries lacked policies by which to secure women's equal access to critical prevention and care services. With regard to the 2005 target to achieve a 20% reduction in transmission from mother to child, the number of women offered such services doubled between 2001 and 2003. However, the 2003 coverage amounted to only 8% of those in need, with only 5% covered in Africa. With regard to access to antiretroviral therapy, there was a 56% increase in the numbers receiving such therapy between 2001 and 2003. However, as of 2003, only 410 000 people in need were receiving antiretroviral therapy, well short of the target of 3 million by 2005. With regard to HIV/AIDS education for young people, there was a target of 90% coverage by 2005. As of 2003, 48% were receiving such education. It was judged too early to assess reduction in prevalence among young people by 25% in the countries most affected by 2005, though it could be said that Uganda would achieve this target.
- 96. Ms Massoud reported that UNAIDS had taken a number of steps to facilitate the achievement of the 2005 targets. These included: intensified advocacy with a focus on sensitive issues, the development of a comprehensive resource-mobilization strategy, the development of extensive guidelines for key interventions, placing additional staff so as to strengthen UN country capacity by 46%, and the promotion of the "Three Ones" principles.

97. The PCB noted the findings of the Progress Report on the Global Response to the HIV/AIDS Epidemic (2003), prepared for General Assembly review of implementation of the Declaration of Commitment towards the 2005 targets. The PCB noted with concern the current gaps between the targets and the response, particularly in light of the fact that only 18 months remained before the deadline of 2005. The PCB pointed out that the Preliminary Report for 2005 was likely to be an important political milestone and encouraged UNAIDS and all stakeholders to make every effort to achieve the targets. The PCB endorsed the proposed key actions and looked forward to receiving detailed guidelines for reporting.

8.2 Review of the Memorandum of Understanding with the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria

- 98. Dr Kathleen Cravero (Deputy Executive Director, UNAIDS) presented an update on progress made in implementing the Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria (GFATM) as detailed in UNAIDS/PCB(15)/04/12. In January 2004, there was held the first formal review of collaboration within the MOU framework. The review included senior staff of UNAIDS, GFATM and Cosponsors, as well as country staff of UNAIDS and portfolio managers of the GFATM. The review confirmed that consultations between staff were taking place on a regular basis, and collaboration was increasing across all four key areas defined in the MOU, namely: strategic analysis and policy advice; technical support through the proposal process; monitoring and evaluation; and resource mobilization and advocacy. One clear sign of the value-added of UNAIDS was the consistently higher rates of approval of funding for country proposals that had received UNAIDS support.
- 99. The review indicated areas that could benefit from greater attention. These were: (a) the need for further clarification of the roles and responsibilities of the GFATM and related mechanisms (such as Country Coordinating Mechanisms) *vis-à-vis* existing groups (e.g., national AIDS councils and partnership fora); (b) the increasing demands of countries for technical assistance from UN system agencies and other partners (an "unfunded" mandate); and (c) the goal of "additionality", which appeared threatened as support to the UN stagnated or declined in some sectors and countries by donors trying to meet commitments to new funding mechanisms. Dr Cravero closed by confirming that overall UNAIDS believes the MOU provides a useful framework for collaboration with GFATM.
- 100. Dr Elhadj Sy (Director, GFATM) reviewed a number of points of collaboration between UNAIDS and the GFATM, including UNAIDS' provision of technical assistance for proposals to the Fund, its technical backup to the Technical Review Panel (TRP) and its technical assistance to countries as they began to implement proposals. He reported that joint regional consultations in Africa have been useful for effective collaboration in that region, and that similar consultations would be initiated in Eastern Europe, Latin America and the Caribbean. He suggested that UNAIDS and the GFATM meet more regularly, strengthen joint advocacy for resource mobilization, and promote the "Three Ones" together at country level.
- 101. The PCB thanked UNAIDS and the GFATM for the review of implementation of the MOU and the identification of a number of issues that should be explored further, in particular, the demand for technical assistance, the role of Country Coordinating Mechanisms, the implementation of the "Three Ones", and the promotion of additionality of funding at both global and national levels. The PCB suggested that there be an opportunity for lengthier discussion on the collaboration between UNAIDS and the GFTAM at an upcoming PCB, as well as further discussion of these issues at the GFATM board meeting.

8.3 Update on the Global Coalition on Women and AIDS

102. Dr Kathleen Cravero (Deputy Executive Director, UNAIDS) presented an update on the Global Coalition of Women and AIDS as detailed in UNAIDS/PCB(15)/04.13. Dr Cravero stressed that this was considered one of UNAIDS' most important initiatives to date. She explained that the Global Coalition was a UNAIDS-led movement of people, networks and organizations with four key goals: to raise the visibility of issues related to women, girls and AIDS; to catalyse action to address those issues; to facilitate collaboration at all levels; and to scale up action that would lead to concrete, measurable improvements in the lives of women and girls. The Coalition was founded on six principles: (a) women are not victims and their "resilience" should be recognized and supported; (b) adolescent girls are at a particular risk; (c) women experience "the paradox of low risk and high vulnerability"; (d) change is possible, given sufficient attention and resources; (e) positive women are vital to change; and (f) there is a role for men and boys. The Coalition is focusing on the following seven action areas: preventing HIV infection among young girls, including reproductive health care; reducing violence against women; protecting the property and inheritance rights of women and girls, ensuring equal access to care and treatment, supporting improved communitybased care, promoting access to new prevention options, including microbicides and female condoms; and promoting universal education for girls. In each of the seven action areas, the Global Coalition—through the UNAIDS Secretariat and its convening agencies—aims, by the end of 2004, to: (i) improve the evidence base; (ii) develop key advocacy messages; and (iii) build broad-based partnerships to catalyse action at global, regional and national levels. A more comprehensive report on the goals and strategy of the Global Coalition would be presented to the PCB in December 2004.

103. Dr Cravero emphasized that the Coalition was promoting women's leadership in the fight against AIDS in terms of what was said, what was done and what was measured. Among the many important messages concerning the experience of women and AIDS, the Global Coalition was promoting messages that are less well accepted but vitally important. These include, for example, the facts that: violence against women is not simply a domestic problem but has significant social and economic consequences for the countries in which it occurs; early/child marriage is a risk factor for HIV; and current prevention strategies do not sufficiently protect women and girls or recognize their special problems. The Global Coalition was seeking to ensure that key issues related to women and girls were built into all national plans and programmes. Further, it was catalysing and supporting initiatives which focused on women and AIDS issues across all regions. Finally, the Global Coalition was ensuring that monitoring tools include indicators that capture whether efforts were making a difference for women and girls. Dr Cravero closed by emphasizing that the Global Coalition on Women and AIDS intended to move the response in a different direction. She informed the PCB that UNAIDS and its partners were using the opportunities of the 2004 World AIDS Campaign to draw attention to the impact of the epidemic on women and AIDS. This would culminate in the celebration of World AIDS Day, which will highlight the achievements of the first 12 months of the Global Coalition Progress in this area could also be reviewed by the PCB in December 2004.

104. The PCB expressed its strong support for the Global Coalition on Women and AIDS and reaffirmed that equality for women must is not only essential in its own right but is also vital to successful responses to the epidemic. The PCB endorsed the key principles and action areas of the Global Coalition, and looked forward to increased advocacy and outputs to be achieved in 2004 and discussed further at the next thematic PCB meeting. One PCB member urged other members to fund the Coalition, both through core funding and through extra-budgetary support.

105. The PCB expressed its support for strategies that addressed the underlying societal values that result in inequalities between the sexes. The PCB agreed that strategies should involve men, including strategies to transform harmful gender norms and harmful concepts of masculinity. The PCB suggested emphasis in the areas of education, including sex education, the empowerment of women and girls, investment in female-controlled methods of prevention, equality in access to treatment, reform of discriminatory laws and customs, the active participation of women in governance structures, and strong follow-up of progress made under the many Conventions and Declarations that promote a gender-based response to HIV/AIDS. One PCB observer welcomed the long overdue focus on women. She urged that the focus remain on "women" versus "gender" lest women's concerns and experiences become lost.

8.4 Statement by the representative of the UNAIDS Staff Association Steering Committee

106. Ms Leyla Alyanak (Chief, Advocacy and Campaigns and Chair, UNAIDS Staff Association Steering Committee) welcomed the opportunity to address the PCB. She pointed out that until recently the concerns of the staff of the UNAIDS Secretariat were dealt with by the WHO staff association, but the UNAIDS Secretariat's staff rules and regulations differed from those of WHO. Ms Alyanak reported that in October 2002, five staff members set up an interim mechanism to represent the interests of UNAIDS Secretariat staff. This interim arrangement would end in November 2004 when staff representatives were to be elected to a permanent UNAIDS staff association.

107. During this interim period, the UNAIDS staff representatives were involved in drafting a policy on staff rotation, strengthening support for colleagues living with HIV, strengthening policies against harassment in the workplace, and limiting the use of successive short-term contracts. Notable achievements included support for the global staff meeting, which improved staff morale, brought staff together and elucidated critical concerns; and an agreement by senior management to consult the staff association before taking decisions that impacted staff employment, interests and welfare. The UNAIDS Secretariat also volunteered, along with four other UN bodies, to pilot a new approach to managing human resources involving "broadbanding" (collapsing several grades together) and "pay for performance" (linking performance to salaries). Ms Alyanak closed by stating that the UNAIDS staff association intended to work for equitable treatment, equal access to benefits, recognition of work well done, fair working conditions, and an organization effective against AIDS.

9: Next PCB meeting

108. Dr Kathleen Cravero (Deputy Executive Director, UNAIDS) recalled that the 14th meeting the PCB had decided on the following dates for PCB meetings to be held during the years 2004 to 2006:

- 16th PCB meeting (fifth ad hoc thematic meeting): 14 and 15 December 2004 (Tuesday and Wednesday)
- 17th PCB meeting: 28 and 29 June 2005 (Tuesday and Wednesday)
- 18th PCB meeting: 27 and 28 June 2006 (Tuesday and Wednesday)
- 19th PCB meeting (sixth ad hoc thematic meeting): 12 and 13 December 2006

109. The PCB Chair had sought candidatures to host the thematic meeting to be held on 14 and 15 December 2004 and a number of countries expressed an interest. A decision was taken according to regional, logistical and financial criteria. On this basis, Jamaica was selected. As regards the themes, "Gender and AIDS" and "Prevention" were proposed as the items for discussion at the thematic meeting. Brazil had offered to the Bahamas to serve as Vice-Chair at the thematic meeting.

- 110. Jamaica accepted with pleasure and thanked the PCB and UNAIDS for being selected to host the fifth thematic meeting of the PCB. It was noted that this would be the first time that the PCB met in the Caribbean. This would offer key opportunities to bring greater focus to the HIV epidemic in the region, to highlight local programmes, and to encourage the strengthening of the response in Jamaica and the region.
- 111. The PCB took note of the proposed dates for the PCB meetings during 2004 to 2006, agreed to the themes for the next thematic meeting, and looked forward to meeting in Jamaica with the Bahamas as Vice-Chair.

10: Adoption of decisions, recommendations and conclusions

112. The decisions, recommendations and conclusions for each agenda item of the 15th meeting of the PCB were prepared by the Drafting Group and were discussed and adopted in plenary prior to the closure of the meeting. They are set out in Annex 2. The Chair of the Drafting Group and those who participated in the drafting group were thanked for their excellent work.

Annex 1 AGENDA

Fifteenth meeting

Geneva, 23-24 June 2004

Place of meeting: Ramada Park Hotel, Avenue Louis-Casaï 75-77, 1216 Cointrin, Geneva

Time of meeting: 09h00 - 12h30 and 14h00 - 18h00

Provisional Agenda

- 1. Opening:
 - 1.1 Opening of the meeting and adoption of provisional agenda
 - 1.2 Election of Officers
 - 1.3 Consideration of the report of the fourteenth meeting
 - 1.4 Report of the Executive Director
- 2. Coordination and Harmonization
- 3. Reports by the CCO Chair and NGO Representative
- 4. Panel discussions on human capacity and treatment issues in scaling up response to HIV/AIDS
 - Panel 1: The Crisis in Human Capacity
 - Panel 2: Scaling up Access to Treatment
- 5. Possible establishment of a PCB Bureau
- 6. Cosponsorship
- 7. Financial Report
- 8. Other matters:
 - 8.1 Briefing on Global Coalition on Women and AIDS
 - 8.2 Update on implementation of the UNGASS Declaration of Commitment
 - 8.3 Review of the Memorandum of Understanding with the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria
 - 8.4 Statement by representative of the UNAIDS Staff Association Steering Committee
- 9. Next PCB meeting
- 10. Adoption of decisions, recommendations and conclusions

Annex 2 DECISIONS, RECOMMENDATIONS AND CONCLUSIONS

Agenda item 1.1: Opening of the meeting and adoption of the provisional agenda

1. The Programme Coordinating Board adopted the provisional agenda.

Agenda item 1.2: Election of Officers

2. Canada was elected as Chair, Brazil as Vice-Chair and Kenya as Rapporteur of the 15th meeting of the Programme Coordinating Board.

Agenda item 1.3: Consideration of the report of the fourteenth meeting

3. The Programme Coordinating Board adopted the report of the 14th meeting.

Agenda item 1.4: Report of the Executive Director

- 4. The Programme Coordinating Board notes with satisfaction the achievements of UNAIDS during the last biennium.
- 5. Noting with concern the many continuing challenges for the response to AIDS and for UNAIDS, the Programme Coordinating Board:
 - 5.1 supports UNAIDS efforts to initiate and strengthen policy work and country analysis generating aggregate indicators and planning to address the urgent problem of the insufficient capacity (i.e., institutional and human resources) of many countries to mount comprehensive and sustained responses to AIDS;
 - 5.2 further supports UNAIDS efforts to promote innovative and "exceptional" policy options for AIDS funding, including debt-relief, a review of the impact of medium-term expenditure frameworks and fiscal ceilings on investments in AIDS programmes, and the capacity of countries to exploit fully the opportunities offered to them within global trade rules;
 - 5.3 encourages UNAIDS leadership to promote the implementation of the Doha Declaration on TRIPS and Public Health as well as supporting countries to utilise the flexibilities permitted by the TRIPS Agreement in their internal regulations;
 - 5.4 endorses the need for a comprehensive gender-balanced response to AIDS, incorporating HIV prevention, treatment and impact alleviation, in particular stigma and discrimination, and, in this regard, supports UNAIDS to lead in the development of a revitalized prevention strategy, with a clear link to sexual and reproductive health and basic health services, that promotes prevention in combination with treatment; and

- 5.5 recognizing the importance of effective, sustainable and equitable health systems in the multisectoral response to HIV/AIDS, encourages UNAIDS to support countries in strengthening their health systems, and the development of human resource capacity.
- 6. Noting the more complex environment in which UNAIDS must operate and the need to continue to reinforce its joint and innovative nature, the Programme Coordinating Board:
 - 6.1 supports the strengthened capacity of the UNAIDS Secretariat, particularly at country level, through the placement of qualified staff in key areas (i.e., facilitation, monitoring and evaluation, social mobilization, brokering partnerships and resource tracking and mobilization), a clarification on the Secretariat functions and position within the United Nations Resident Coordinator System, and effective inclusion of the UNAIDS Country Coordinator as a member of the United Nations Country Team to implement joint programming; it is vital that the individual cosponsors in each country focus on their value added contribution and comparative advantage;
 - 6.2 further supports the strengthening of performance-based management by the UNAIDS Secretariat through appropriate procedures, including the focus on results-based budgeting, the introduction of competency-based recruitment and training, implementation of decentralized management, introduction of a mobility and rotation policy and continued progress in improving workplace policies on HIV/AIDS;
 - 6.3 encourages the establishment through UNAIDS of Technical Support Facilities, including regional technical assistance networks to help countries identify key technical assistance providers and access high quality technical assistance;
 - 6.4 further encourages UNAIDS to advocate that technical assistance providers, including the United Nations System, other public and private sector partners, including civil society and NGOs are adequately financed to meet the scale of demand; and
 - 6.5 recognizes the essential role of civil society in the multisectoral response to HIV/AIDS, and requests UNAIDS, in partnership with civil society representatives, to establish indicators to more formally identify, document, and evaluate best practices of civil society. These indicators should relate to the goals of the Declaration of Commitment on HIV/AIDS, the "Three Ones", the "3 by 5" Initiative and the UN System Strategic Plan for HIV/AIDS for 2001–2005.

Agenda item 2: Coordination and Harmonization (the 'Three Ones')

- 7. Recognizing the need to further promote coherence in actions at country-level and the importance of the "Three Ones" (one agreed HIV/AIDS action framework that provides for the basis for coordinating the work of all partners; one national AIDS coordinating authority, with a broad-based multisectoral mandate; and one agreed country-level monitoring and evaluation system); and taking note of the growing support for harmonization at country level, the Programme Coordinating Board:
 - 7.1 endorses the "Commitment to principles for concerted AIDS action at the country level" agreed during the high-level meeting held on 25 April 2004 in Washington, D.C., which built on earlier declarations and consultations on harmonization, and encourages bilateral and multilateral agencies and national leaders to apply these principles at the country level;

- 7.2 further endorses specific actions (listed under UNAIDS/PCB 15.04.4) by UNAIDS to support the implementation of the "Three Ones" at country level, including selection of a number of countries to identify good practices in country-specific situations, and to plan for these actions in the next biennium's Unified Budget and Workplan; and
- 7.3 encourages UNAIDS to build on work by OECD/DAC to develop principles of good practice for effective coordination and harmonization at the national level; to set clear and specific guidelines for the inclusion of civil society and People Living with HIV and AIDS organizations in partnership forums and other national coordination bodies, and to facilitate efforts to better coordinate funding within the national AIDS strategic framework.

Agenda item 3: Reports by the Committee of Cosponsoring Organizations Chair and Nongovernmental Representative

- 8. Noting with appreciation the Report by the Chairperson of the Committee of Cosponsoring Organizations, the Programme Coordinating Board:
 - 8.1 welcomes the joint programme-wide initiatives undertaken by UNAIDS, led by the Secretariat and/or various Cosponsors, and notes their key achievements and multisectoral activities in the field of HIV/AIDS;
 - 8.2 encourages UNAIDS Secretariat and Cosponsors to consider a process for providing a harmonized, outcome-oriented report on their HIV/AIDS activities to the PCB, as well as to their respective governing bodies;
 - 8.3 urges the Secretariat and Cosponsors to continue to strengthen the UNAIDS partnership, especially at country level, and thereby contribute to a comprehensive response to HIV/AIDS; and
 - 8.4 notes the remarks by the incoming Chair of the Committee of Cosponsoring Organizations.
- 9. The Programme Coordinating Board:
 - 9.1 welcomes the presentation of the representative of the nongovernmental organizations and ensuing discussion, and encourages the Secretariat to strengthen and evaluate continued participation of nongovernmental organizations in the PCB;
 - 9.2 urges UNAIDS to promote discussions within countries to propose legislation against discrimination and assist countries who may wish to declare HIV and AIDS a health emergency; and
 - 9.3 endorses the recommendation that UNAIDS Secretariat, Cosponsors and Member States promote and support evidence-based HIV-prevention interventions.

Agenda item 4: Panel Discussions on Capacity and HIV Treatment Issues in Scaling up Responses to HIV/AIDS

10. Noting with interest and appreciation the presentations from the panellists on the "Strengthening Capacity on HIV and AIDS" the Programme Coordinating Board:

- 10.1 encourages UNAIDS to assist countries: to identify and analyse national and international policy impediments and short, medium and long term needs related to human capacity; to address these in an urgent, innovative, and—as much as possible—sustainable way; and to foster south-south cooperation.
- 11. Noting with interest and appreciation the presentations from the panellists on the "Scaling Up Access to AIDS Treatment" the Programme Coordinating Board:
 - 11.1 notes the numerous challenges and opportunities related to scaling up the required responses for treatment and reaffirms the need to integrate prevention and treatment activities, and encourages UNAIDS to continue with public and private sector partners to enhance their efforts to plan, implement, monitor, and evaluate the sustainable scale up of treatment and prevention activities; and
 - 11.2 encourages UNAIDS to advocate the effective use of resources, to support diverse systems approaches to delivery of HIV prevention, diagnostics and antiretroviral treatment, on a scale which meets demand at country level.
- 12. The Programme Coordinating Board expresses their appreciation to the Secretariat for organizing the Panel presentations and encourages UNAIDS, in consultation with partners, to explore ways of improving discussions and decisions on strategic, policy, programmatic and other relevant issues (for instance, additional focus on countries with relevance to programmatic issues).

Agenda item 5: Possible Establishment of a Programme Coordinating Board Bureau

- 13. Welcoming the proposal by the Programme Coordinating Board (PCB) Chair and Vice-Chair to establish a PCB Bureau, as requested at its 14th meeting, the Programme Coordinating Board:
 - 13.1 approves the guiding principles, terms of reference and the membership of the Bureau as follows:
 - (i) <u>Guiding Principles</u>

Transparency, efficiency of operation and establishment at a minimum cost.

- (ii) Terms of Reference
- coordinating the Programme Coordinating Board's programme of work for the year;
- facilitating smooth and efficient functioning of the Programme Coordinating Board sessions;
- facilitating transparent decision-making at the Programme Coordinating Board;
- preparing the Programme Coordinating Board agenda, and recommending the allocation of time and the order of discussion items;
- providing guidance on Programme Coordinating Board documentation, as needed; and
- additional functions as directed by the Programme Coordinating Board.

(iii) Membership

the Chair, the Vice-Chair, the Rapporteur of the PCB, one Cosponsor representative and one representative of nongovernmental organizations and people living with HIV and AIDS; and

13.2 agrees to review and assess the functioning of the Programme Coordinating Board Bureau after a two-year trial period.

Agenda item 6: Cosponsorship

- 14. Welcoming the initiative by the Committee of Cosponsoring Organizations to strengthen the criteria for cosponsorship of UNAIDS and taking note of both the existing and the new criteria for cosponsorship, the Programme Coordinating Board:
 - 14.1 decides that future proposals by UN-system organizations to join the Programme as Cosponsors should be reviewed by the Committee of Cosponsoring Organizations and then submitted to the Programme Coordinating Board for its consideration and approval;
 - 14.2 endorses the Committee of Cosponsoring Organizations decision that, in accordance with the Economic and Social Council resolution 1995/2, six Cosponsors will participate in the Programme Coordinating Board as members in any one year, with the selection to be decided upon by the Cosponsors;
 - 14.3 requests that the implications of an increasing number of Cosponsors vis-à-vis the Unified Budget and Workplan, the UNAIDS Secretariat as well as the United Nations Theme Groups on HIV/AIDS at country level, be monitored on an ongoing basis;
 - 14.4 further requests the CCO to regularly review compliance by the Cosponsors with the established criteria, and further encourages UNAIDS Secretariat and Cosponsors to intensify cooperation with all relevant partners; and
 - 14.5 endorses the World Food Programme and the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees as the ninth and tenth Cosponsors of UNAIDS, respectively.

Agenda item 7: Financial Report

- 15. Noting with satisfaction the financial report and audited financial statements for the financial period 1 January 2002 to 31 December 2003 and the report of the external auditor, and taking note of the interim financial management information for the 2004-2005 biennium and the financial update as at 30 April 2004, the Programme Coordinating Board:
 - 15.1 notes the opinions of the External Auditors that the financial statements included in the Financial Report for the 2002-2003 biennium accurately reflect UNAIDS accounts and the results of its operations and are consistent with Financial Regulations and Legislative Authority;
 - 15.2 endorses the Executive Director's proposal to utilize part of the 2002-2003 carried-over funds to cover the costs of additional security measures at country level and of payments in conjunction with the construction of new premises in Geneva, including installation costs; and

15.3 encourages donor governments and others to make available their contributions towards the Unified Budget and Workplan for 2004-2005 as soon as possible, if they have not already done so.

Agenda item 8: Other Matters

Agenda item 8.1: Update on the United Nations General Assembly Special Session on HIV/AIDS Declaration of Commitment

- 16. Taking note of the update in meeting the goals and targets of the United Nations General Assembly Special Session on HIV/AIDS Declaration of Commitment, the Programme Coordinating Board:
 - 16.1 notes the findings of the Progress Report on the Global Response to the HIV/AIDS epidemic (2003), prepared for the General Assembly review of implementation of the Declaration of Commitment, in particular the areas requiring concerted effort to achieve the 2005 targets of the Declaration of Commitment;
 - 16.2 requests governments to increase their efforts together with all partners in order to reach the 2005 targets in the Declaration of the Commitment; and
 - 16.3 endorses the key actions to be taken by UNAIDS to facilitate achievement of targets for 2005, as proposed in the Report UNAIDS/PCB/15/04.11.

Agenda item 8.2: Review of the Memorandum of Understanding with the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria

- 17. Taking note of the review of the Memorandum of Understanding with the Global Fund, the Programme Coordinating Board:
 - 17.1 requests more substantive discussion at a future PCB meeting; and further recommends that PCB Members and Observers on the Global Fund Board ensure that the main themes of this meeting are reflected in the discussions of the Global Fund Board;
 - 17.2 welcomes the increasing collaboration between UNAIDS and the Global Fund in all four areas of the Memorandum of Understanding, and encourages effective collaboration and complementarity; and
 - 17.3 notes the issues identified as requiring concerted attention in the short term, and urges action by all partners, namely the need to: (i) clarify the roles and responsibilities of Global Fund mechanisms vis-à-vis other existing structures at country level (in line with the "Three Ones" principle); (ii) address in a comprehensive manner the increasing demand of countries for technical assistance from the UN system to support national AIDS responses; and (iii) promote the principle of additionality of Global Fund resources.

Agenda item 8.3: Update on the Global Coalition on Women and AIDS

18. Noting with appreciation the update on the Global Coalition on Women and AIDS, the Programme Coordinating Board:

- 18.1 expresses support for the Global Coalition on Women and AIDS' key principles and action areas:
- 18.2 welcomes the expected outputs in 2004, especially those related to intensified global, regional and national advocacy and action in the field of HIV/AIDS focused on women and girls; and
- 18.3 endorses proposed next steps, including further development of the Global Coalition on Women and AIDS and opportunities through the 2004 World AIDS Campaign to draw attention to the impact of the epidemic on women and girls.

Agenda item 8.4: Statement by the representative of the UNAIDS Secretariat Staff Association

19. The Programme Coordinating Board welcomes the establishment of the UNAIDS Secretariat Staff Association and takes note of the statement by its representative.

Agenda item 9: Next PCB meeting

20. The Programme Coordinating Board reconfirms its decision from the 14th meeting that the 16th Programme Coordinating Board meeting will be held on 14th and 15th December 2004. The Programme Coordinating Board also confirms that the meeting will be held in Jamaica, and that Bahamas will be the Vice-Chair. The themes proposed for discussion are "Gender and AIDS", and "Prevention".

Agenda item 10: Adoption of decisions, recommendations and conclusions

21. The Programme Coordinating Board adopts the decisions, recommendations and conclusions of the 15th Programme Coordinating Board meeting.

24.06.2004

Annex 3 LIST OF PARTICIPANTS

I. MEMBERS / MEMBRES

Member States / Etats Membres

Bahamas

Dr Perry Gomez
Tel.: +1 242 322 2839
Director, National AIDS Programme
Fax: +1 242 356 2893

Ministry of Health and Environment Email: depmedic@batelnet.bs

P.O. Box N-3730 Shirley Street Nassau

Brazil - Brésil

H.E. Mr Carlos Paranhos

Ambassador and Permanent Representative
of Brazil to the United Nations Office in Geneva

Tel.: +41 22 929 0900
Fax: +41 22 788 2505

Avenue Louis-Casaï 71

1216 Cointrin

Dr Alexandre Grangeiro National Coordinator for Sexually Transmitted Diseases and HIV/AIDS Ministry of Health Av. W3 Norte - SEPN 511, Bloco C

Dra Mariângela Batista Galvão Simão Tel.: +55 61 448 8130/8027/8019 Head, International Cooperation Unit Fax: +55 61 448 8027/8019

Email: mariangela.simao@aids.gov.br

National AIDS Programme

Brasilia, D.F. 70.750-920

Ministry of Health

Av. W3 Norte - SEPN 511, Bloco C

Brasilia, D.F. 70.750-920

Mr Antonio Carlos do Nascimento Pedro Tel.: +41 22 929 0900 Minister-Counsellor Fax: +41 22 788 2505

Permanent Mission of Brazil to the United Nations

Office in Geneva Avenue Louis Casaï 71 1216 Cointrin

Mr Pedro Marcos de Castro Saldanha Tel.: +41 22 929 0900 Second Secretary Fax: +41 22 788 2505

Permanent Mission of Brazil to the United Nations

Office in Geneva Avenue Louis Casaï 71 1216 Cointrin

Ms Regiane Mara Gonçalves de Melo Tel.: +41 22 929 0900 Third Secretary Fax: +41 22 788 2505

Permanent Mission of Brazil to the United Nations

Office in Geneva Avenue Louis Casaï 71 1216 Cointrin

Burundi

Professeur Luc Rukingama Tél.: +257 24 4761 Ministre à la Présidence Chargé de la Lutte Fax: +257 24 4758 contre le SIDA Email: mpls@cbinf.com

B. P. 1139 Bujumbura

S.E. M. Zacharie Gahutu Tél.: +41 22 732 7705 Ambassadeur Fax: +41 22 732 7734

Représentant permanent de la République du

Burundi auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève

Rue de Lausanne 44

1201 Genève

Mme Clémence Bununagi Cadre d'appui au Ministère à la Présidence Chargé de la Lutte contre le Sida B.P. 1139

Bujumbura

Docteur Joseph Wakana Secrétaire exécutif permanent du Conseil national de Lutte contre le SIDA Buiumbura

M. Nestor Nkundwanabake Tel.: +41 22 732 7705 Premier Conseiller Fax: +41 22 732 7734

Mission permanente du Burundi auprès de l'Office

des Nations Unies à Genève

Rue de Lausanne 44

1201 Genève

Canada

Mr Paul Thibault Tel.: +1 819 997 5006 Fax: 11 819 953 6088 President

Canadian International Development Agency (CIDA)

200 Promenade du Portage Gatineau, Quebec K1A 0G4

Mr Bruce Montador Vice-President

Multilateral Branch

Canadian International Development Agency

200 Promenade du Portage

Gatineau, Quebec K1A 0G4

Tel.: +1 819 997 4872

Ms Sandra Black
Principal Advisor HIV/AIDS and
A/Director Social Development Policies
Policy Branch
Canadian International Development Agency
200 Promenade du Portage
Gatineau, Quebec K1A 0G4

Mr Montasser Kamal Chief, UN Health Institutions Unit United Nations and Commonwealth Division Multilateral Programmes Branch Canadian International Development Agency 200 Promenade du Portage Gatineau, Quebec K1A 0G4

Mr Michael Rymek Senior Programme Officer UN Health Institutions Unit United Nations and Commonwealth Division Multilateral Branch Canadian International Development Agency 200 Promenade du Portage Gatineau, Quebec K1A 0G4

Mr Christopher Armstrong Senior HIV/AIDS Advisor Human Rights, Humanitarian Affairs and International Women's Equity Division Department of Foreign Affairs Ottawa K1A 0G2

Ms Marita Killen
Programme Officer, HIV/AIDS
International Health Division
International Affairs Directorate
Health Canada
8th Floor, Room 814A, Brooke Claxton Building
Tunney's Pasture 0908A
Ottawa, K1A 0K9

Mr Thomas Fetz

Second Secretary

Permanent Mission of Canada to the
United Nations Office in Geneva

Avenue de l'Ariana 5

Tel.: +41 22 919 9204

Fax: +41 22 919 9227

E-mail: thomas.fetz@dfait-maeci.gc.ca

Cape Verde - Cap-Vert

1202 Geneva

M. António Pedro Alves Lopes

Chargé d'affaires a.i.

Mission permanente de la République du Cap-Vert auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève

Avenue Blanc 47

1202 Genève

Tel.: +41 22 731 3336

Fax: +41 22 731 3540

M. Artur Correia Secrétaire exécutif du Comité de Coordination de lutte contre le SIDA Praia

China – Chine

Dr Ren Minghui Tel.: +8610 6879 2283
Deputy Director General Fax: +8610 6879 2279
Department of International Cooperation Email: renmh@moh.gov.cn

Ministry of Health

1 Nanlu, Xizhimenwai, Xicheng District

27 Nanwei Road, Xuanwa District

Beijing

Dr Shen Jie Tel.: +8610 6317 4322
Deputy Director General Fax: +8610 6313 1939

China CDC Email: shenjie@Chinaids.org.cn

Beijing

Dr Qi Qingdong
Tel.: +8610 6879 2275
Director
Fax: +8610 6879 2279
Division of International Organizations
Email: gigd@moh.gov.cn

Department of International Cooperation

Ministry of Health

1 Nanlu, Xizhimenwai, Xicheng District

Beijing

Ms Wan Liya Tel.: +8610 6879 2367
Consultant, Division II Fax: +8610 6879 2362
Department of Disease Control Email: wanly@moh.gov.cn

Ministry of Health

1 Nanlu, Xizhimenwai, Xicheng District

Beijing

Dr Deng Hongmei Tel.: +41 22 879 5678 Adviser to the Ambassador and Permanent Fax: +41 22 793 7014

Representative

Permanent Mission of China to the United Nations

Office in Geneva Chemin de Surville 11 Case postale 85 1213 Petit-Lancy 2 Geneva

Côte d'Ivoire

S.E. Mme Christine Nebout Adjobi

Tél.: +225 20 21 0846

Ministre chargé de la Lutte contre le SIDA

Tél.: +225 20 21 0846

Fax: +225 20 21 0834

Immeuble Caistab 7^{ème} Etage Email: christinenebout@yahoo.fr

04 BP 2113 Abidjan 4

S.E. M. Claude Beke Dassys

Tel.: +41 22 717 0250

Ambassadeur et Représentant permanent

Fax: +41 22 717 0260

Mission permanente de la République de

Côte d'Ivoire auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies

à Genève

Route de Ferney 149h Case postale 315 1218 Grand-Saconnex

M. Jérôme Klôh Weya Tel.: +41 22 717 0250 Premier conseiller Fax: +41 22 717 0260

Mission permanente de la République de Côte d'Ivoire auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève Route de Ferney 149h Case postale 315 1218 Grand-Saconnex

Docteur Joséphine Diabate-Conombo Inspecteur Ministère de la Lutte contre le SIDA Abidjan

Docteur Ambroise Ekissi Able Directeur de la Mobilisation Sociale Ministère de la Lutte contre le SIDA Abidjan

Mme Paul Annick Mady Responsable de Projets Ministère de la Lutte contre le SIDA Abidjan

Monsieur Joël Bamba

Chargé du Protocole

Mission permanente de la République de Côte d'Ivoire auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève

Tel.: +41 22 717 0250

Fax: +41 22 717 0260

Route de Ferney 149h Case postale 315 1218 Grand-Saconnex

Czech Republic – République Tchèque

Dr Jaroslav Jedlicka

UNAIDS Focal Point

National AIDS Programme Manager
National Institute of Public Health

Srobárova 48

Tel.: +420 2 67082650

Fax: +420 2 67082532

Email: jdlckj@szu.cz

<u>Denmark – Danemark</u>

10042 Prague

Mrs Kirsten Geelan Head of the UN Department Ministry of Foreign Affairs Copenhagen Ms Thea Christiansen Head of Section Ministry of Foreign Affairs Copenhagen

Mr Michael Bremerskov Jensen Secretary of Embassy Permanent Mission of Denmark to the United Nations Office in Geneva Rue de Moillebeau 56 Case postale 435 1211 Geneva 19

Fax: +41 22 918 0066

Tel.: +41 22 918 0040

France

Dr Pascal Chevit

Chargé de Mission

Délégation aux affaires européennes et internationales (DAEI)

Tel.: +33 01 40 56 51 85

Fax: +33 1 40 56 72 43

Email: Pascal.Chevit@sante.gouv.fr

Ministère de la Santé et de la Protection sociale 8 avenue de Ségur 75007 Paris

Guatemala

H.E. Dr Salvador Lopez Mendoza

Vice Minister of Health

Ministry of Health of Guatemala

Tel.: +502 440 0480

Fax: +502 440 6454

Email: slm@mspas.gob.gt

6a. Av. 3-45. zone 1 Guatemala City

H.E. Mr Lars Pira Pérez

Tel.: +41 22 734 5573

Ambassador and Permanent Representative

Tel.: +41 22 734 5573

Fax: +41 22 733 1429

of Guatemala to the United Nations Office in Geneva

Chemin de Sous-Bois 21

1202 Genève

Mme Annelise Hirschman de Salazar

Director, National HIV/AIDS Programme

Fax: +502 251 6054

Fax: +502 251 6055

Email: annie-salazar@yahoo.com

Ministry of Health 9a av. 14-65, zona 1

Guatemala

Ms Stephanie Hochstetter Skinner-Klée Tel.: +41 22 733 0850 Counsellor Fax: +41 22 733 1429

Permanent Mission of Guatemala to the United Nations Office in Geneva

Chemin de Sous-Bois 21

1202 Geneva

India – Inde

Mr J.V.R. Prasada Rao Tel.: +91 11 2301 8863

Secretary (Health)

Ministry of Health and Family Welfare Nirman Bhavan, Maulana Azad Road

9th Floor, Chanderlok Building, 36-Janpath

1100011 New Delhi

Dr Narayan Singh Dharmshaktu
Tel.: +91 11 23325337
Additional Project Director
Fax: +91 11 23325337
National AIDS Control Organization
Email: nds@nacoindia.org
Ministry of Health and Family Welfare

New Delhi 110001

Mr Arun Kumar Chatterjee

First Secretary

Permanent Mission of India to the United Nations

Office in Geneva

Rue du Valais 9 (6th floor)

1202 Geneva

Japan – Japon

Dr Yusuke Fukuda

Director

International Cooperation Office

International Affairs Division

Minister's Secretariat

Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare

Tokyo

Dr Takeshi Kasai

Deputy Director

International Affairs Division

Minister's Secretariat

Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare

Tokyo

Mr Satoshi Hemmi

First Secretary

Permanent Mission of Japan to the

United Nations Office in Geneva

Chemin des Fins 3

Case postale 337

1211 Geneva 19

Ms Takako Tsujisaka

First Secretary

Permanent Mission of Japan to the

United Nations Office in Geneva

Chemin des Fins 3

Case postale 337

Dr Azusa Iwamoto Assistant Director for International Cooperation International Cooperation Office International Affairs Division Minister's Secretariat Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare

Kenya

Dr Ibrahim Mohammed

Tel.: +254 20 2729502

Deputy Head

National HIV/AIDS and STI Control Programme
(NASCOP)

P.O. Box 19361

Nairobi

Myanmar

Dr Kyi Soe Tel.: +951 538 900
Director-General Fax: +951 538 899
Department of Health Planning Email: kyisœ@mptmail.net.mm
Ministry of Health
27, Pyidaungsu Yeiktha Road
Yangon

Netherlands – Pays Bas

H.E. Mr Ian M. De Jong

Ambassador, Permanent Representative of the Netherlands to the United Nations

Office in Geneva

Avenue Giuseppe Motta 31-33

C.P. 196 1211 Geneva 20

Mr Paul J. Sciarone

Minister Plenipotentiary

Deputy Permanent Representative

Permanent Mission of the Netherlands to the
United Nations Office in Geneva

Avenue Giuseppe Motta 31-33 C.P. 196

Mrs Aagje Papineau Salm Head, Social Policy Division Ministry of Foreign Affairs Bezuidenhoutseweg 67

2594 AC Den Haag

1211 Geneva 20

Renilde Weiffenbach Head, UN Funds and Social Division Ministry of Foreign Affairs Bezuidenhoutseweg 67 2594 AC Den Haag Tel.: +31 70 348 4894 Fax: +31 70 348 5366

Email: aa.papineau-salm@minbuza.nl

Mobile phone: +639209226427

Email: mission.Spain@ties.itu.int

Tel.: +1 212 371 8910

Fax: +1 212 754 2755

Ms Monique Middelhoff Tel.: +41 22 7481811 First Secretary Fax: +41 22 7481818

Permanent Mission of the Netherlands to the Email: Monique.middelhoff@minbuza.nl

United Nations Office in Geneva 31-33, avenue Giuseppe Motta 1211 Geneva 20 CIC

Philippines

H.E. Mr Austere Panadero Tel.: +63-2 9257343/9250347

Assistant Secretary Fax: +63-2 9250345

Department of Interior and Local Government (DILG) and Vice-Chair, Philippine National AIDS Council (PNAC)

8th Floor, A. Francisco Gold Condo II EDSA corner Mapagmahal Street Diliman Quezon City

Russian Federation - Fédération de Russie

Dr Alexander Goliusov Tel.: +7095 973 1393 Chief, HIV/AIDS Prevention Unit Fax: +7095 973 1549

National AIDS Programme Coordinator

Federal Service of Consumer Rights, Defence and Welfare

Ministry of Health of the Russian Federation

18/20 Vadkovsky per

Moscow

Spain – Espagne

Sra. D^a Lourdes Chamorro Ramos Tel.: +34 91 447 4366 Secretary of the Spanish Plan on AIDS Fax: +34 91 447 4563

Ministry of Health Email: Lourdes.chamorro@msc.es

Paseo Castellana

Madrid

M. Guillermo Lopez Mac-Lellan Tel.: +41 22 909 2830 Counsellor Fax: +41 22 731 5370

Permanent Mission of Spain to the United Nations

Office in Geneva Avenue Blanc 53 1202 Geneva

New York, N.Y. 10022

Swaziland

H.E. Mr Clifford S. Mamba
Ambassador and Permanent Representative
Permanent Mission of the Kingdom of Swaziland
to the United Nations
408 East 50th Street

USA

Email: Martine.Berger@deza.admin.ch

Email: Christine.kopp@bag.admin.ch

Email: carole.presern@jco.gov.uk

Mr Derek Von Wissell

National Director

Fax: +268 404 1703/8

Fax: +268 404 1692

National Emergency Response Council

Email: dvwi@nercha.org.sz

on HIV/AIDS P.O. Box 1937 Mbabane

Switzerland - Suisse

Mr Jacques Martin Tel.: + 41 31 322 34 47 Deputy Head, UN-Development Division Fax: + 41 31 324 13 47

Senior Adviser (Health and Population) Email: Jacques.Martin@deza.admin.ch

Swiss Agency for Development and Cooperation 130 Freiburgstrasse

CH-3003 Bern

Dr Martine Berger Tel.: +41 22 749 2424 Special Adviser for Public Health and Development Fax: +41 22 749 2466

Swiss Agency for Development and Cooperation Rue de Varembé 9-11 Case postale 194

Case postale 194 1211 Geneva 20

Mlle Elena Manfrina Tel.: +41 31 322 3459 Chargée de programme Fax: +41 31 324 1347

Direction du développement et de la Coopération Email: Elena.Manfrina@deza.admin.ch

Freiburgstrasse 130 CH-3003 Berne

Ms Christine Kopp
Project Manager, National HIV/AIDS Programme
Tel.: +41 31 322 9636
Fax: +41 31 323 8799

Swiss Federal Office of Public Health

AIDS Section CH-3003 Bern

<u>United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland</u>/ Royaume-Uni de Grande-Bretagne et d'Irlande du Nord

H.E. Mr Nick Thorne

Tel.: +41 22 918 2358

Ambassador and Permanent Representative

United Kingdom Mission to the United Nations

Tel.: +41 22 918 2333

Office in Geneva 37-39 rue de Vermont 1211 Geneva 20

Dr Carole Presern

Tel.: +41 22 918 2370

First Secretary, Health and Development

Fax: +41 22 918 2444

United Kingdom Mission to the United Nations

Office in Geneva 37-39 rue de Vermont 1211 Geneva 20 Mr David Clarke

Tel.: +44 207 023 1787

Senior Education Adviser, HIV/AIDS Team

Department for International Development

Tel.: +44 207 023 1787

Fax: +44 207 023 0428

Email: d-clarke@dfid.gov.uk

1 Palace Street London SW1E 5HE

Mr Sam Adofo
Tel.: +44 207 023 0163
Assistant Programme Officer
Fax: +44 207 7023 0194
Department for International Development
Email: sadofo@dfid.gov.uk

1 Palace Street London SW1E 5HE

Mr Colin Foord-Divers
Tel.: +44 207 023 1267
Programme Manager, HIV/AIDS Team
Fax: +44 207 023 0428

Department for International Development Email: cr-foord-divers@dfid.gov.uk

1 Palace Street London SW1E 5HE

Miss Jane Haycock Tel.: +44 207 023 1610 Health Adviser Fax: +44 207 023 0428

1 Palace Street London SW1E 5HE

Cosponsoring Organizations / Organismes coparrainants

Department for International Development

<u>United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF)</u> – Fonds des Nations Unies pour l'enfance (FISE)

Ms Thilly De Bodt Project Officer, HIV/AIDS Unit 3 United Nations Plaza New York, NY 10017

Dr Ngashi Ngongo Advisor PMTCT Health Section 3 United Nations Plaza New York, NY 10017 USA

USA

Geneva

Ms Diane Widdus
Project Officer
YPHD & P
Palais des Nations

Tel.: +41 22 909 5539 Email: dwiddus@unicef.org

Tel.: +1 212 326 7453

Fax: +1 212 303 7954

Email: Monica.Sharma@undp.org

Email: chika.saito@undp.org

World Food Programme (WFP)

- Programme Alimentaire Mondiale (PAM)

Ms Sheila Sisulu Tel.: +39 06 6513 3030 Deputy Executive Director for Policy Fax: +39 06 6513 2834

and External Relations
Via Cesare Giulio Viola 68/70

00148 Rome

Italy

Mr Thomas Yanga Email: Thomas.Yanga@wfp.org

Director

WFP Secretariat for the Executive Board

Via Cesare Giuglio Viola 68/70

00148 Rome

Italy

<u>United Nations Development Programme (UNDP)</u>

- Programme des Nations Unies pour le développement (PNUD)

Mr Walter Franco

Deputy Assistant Administrator and Director of the

Bureau for Development Policy

1 United Nations Plaza

New York, NY 10017

Dr Monica Sharma Tel.: +1 212 906 3687 Principal Adviser Fax: +1 212 906 5023

Group Leader of the HIV/AIDS Group

Bureau for Development Policy 304 East 45th Street, Room FF-1030

New York, N.Y. 10017

Ms Chika Saito Tel.: +1 212 906 5014 HIV/AIDS and Development Specialist Fax: +1 212 906 5023

HIV/AIDS Group

Bureau for Development Policy 304 East 45th Street, Room FF-1050

New York, N.Y. 10017

Mr Olivier Adam

Tel.: +1 212 906 6914
Senior Programme Adviser

Fax: +1 212 906 5023

304E 45th Street Email: Olivier.adam@undp.org

New York, N.Y. 10017

International Labour Office (ILO)

- Bureau International du Travail (BIT)

Mr Franklyn Lisk Tel.: +41 22 799 7668 Director Fax: +41 22 799 6349

ILO Global Programme on HIV/AIDS and

the World of Work (ILO/AIDS) and UNAIDS Global Coordinator

4, route des Morillons

Ms Claire Mulanga Tel.: +41 22 799 8227
Technical Officer Fax: +41 22 799 6349
ILO Global Programme on HIV/AIDS and Email: mulanga@ilo.org

the World of Work (ILO/AIDS) 4, route des Morillons

1211 Geneva

United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA)

- Fonds des Nations Unies pour la Population (FNUAP)

Mr Steve Kraus
Tel.: +1 212 297 5256
Chief, HIV/AIDS Branch, Technical Support
Division
Tel.: +1 212 297 5256
Fax: +1 212 297 4915
Email: kraus@unfpa.org

220 East 42nd Street New York, N.Y. 10017

Ms Elizabeth Benomar Technical Specialist, HIV/AIDS Branch Technical Support Division 220 East 42nd Street New York, N.Y. 10017

United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC)

- Programme des Nations Unies pour le Contrôle international des Drogues (ONUDC)

Mr Antonio Maria Costa Tel.: +43 1 260 605001 Executive Director Fax: +43 1 260 605819

Vienna International Centre

P.O. Box 500 A-1400 Vienna

Mr Francis A. Maertens

Tel.: +43 1 26060 4087

Director

Fax: +43 1 26060 6709

Division for Policy Analysis and Public Affairs Email: francis.maertens@unodc.org

Vienna International Centre

P.O. Box 500 A-1400 Vienna

 Mr Christian Kroll
 Tel.: +43 1 260605143

 Senior Coordinator
 Fax: +43 1 2606075143

HIV/AIDS Unit Email: christian.kroll@unodc.org

Vienna International Centre

P.O. Box 500 A-1400 Vienna

United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization

- Organisation des Nations Unies pour l'éducation, la science et la culture (UNESCO)

Mr Koichiro Matsuura Director-General 7 Place de Fontenoy F-75352 Paris

Email: g.hernes@iiep.unesco.org

Email: dzewdie@worldbank.org

Ms Krista Pikkat Tel.: +33 1 4568 1896

Assistant Liaison Officer Email: k.pikkat@iiep.unesco.org

UNESCO-IIEP

7-9 rue Eugène Delacroix

Paris 75116

Mr Gudmund Hernes Tel.: +33 1 450 37716 HIV/AIDS Coordinator, Director IIEP Fax: +33140728781

UNESCO-IIEP

7-9 rue Eugène Delacroix

Paris 75116

Mr Olivier Nay Tel.: +33 1 450 37827

CCO Coordination Advisor Email: o.nay@iiep.unesco.org

UNESCO-IIEP

7-9 rue Eugène Delacroix

Paris 75116

World Health Organization (WHO)

- Organisation mondiale de la Santé (OMS)

Dr Gottfried Hirnschall

Director, Partnerships, External Relations and

Communications

Tel.: +41 22 791 2915

Fax: +41 22 791 4834

Email: hirnschallg@who.int

Department of HIV/AIDS

20, avenue Appia 1211 Geneva 27

Dr Kerry Kutch
Administrative Management Officer
HIV/AIDS
Tel.: +41 22 791 2191
Fax: +41 22 791 4834
Email: kutchk@who.int

20, avenue Appia 1211 Geneva 27

The World Bank – Banque mondiale

Dr Debrework Zewdie Tel.: +1 202 473 8414 Director Fax: +1 202 522 3235

Global HIV/AIDS Program

The World Bank

Human Development Network

1818 H. Street, NW Washington DC 20433

Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR) – Haut Commissariat des Nations Unies pour les Réfugiés (HCNUR)

Mr Ruud Lubbers United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees UNHCR Case Postale 2500 CH-1211 Geneva 2 Mr Paul Spiegel Tel.: +41 22 739 8289 Senior Technical Officer (HIV/AIDS) Fax: +41 22 739 7366 Health and Community Development Section Email: spiegel@unhcr.ch

UNHCR

Case Postale 2500 CH-1211 Geneva 2

Ms Marian Schilperoord

UNHCR

Tel.: +41 22 739 8315

Fax: +41 22 739 7366

Case postale 2500

Email: schilpem@unhcr.ch

CH-1211 Geneva 2

Representatives of Nongovernmental Organizations/People Living with HIV/AIDS - Représentants des Organisations non gouvernementales/Personnes vivant avec le VIH/SIDA

Africa – Afrique

Mr Omololu Falobi Tel.: +234 1 7731457 Journalists Against AIDS (JAAIDS) Nigeria Fax: +234 1 8128565

44B Ijaye Road (behind Tastee Fried Chicken) Email: omololu@nigeria-aids.org

Ogba, Lagos Nigeria

Ms Fernanda Teixeira Tel.: +258 1 497 724
Mozambique Red Cross Society Fax: +258 1 497 725

Rue João de Barros 229 Email: cvm@redcross.org.mz

Maputo Mozambique

Asia and Pacific – Asie et Pacifique

Mr Syed Imran Rizvi

AMAL Human Development Network

H-7, Street 62

Email: mails@amal-hdn.org;
Islamabad

G-6/imranji@kzr.biz

Europe

Mrs Alena Peryshkina Tel/Fax: +7 095 381 2839
AIDS Infoshare Email: alena@infoshare.ru
1st Dorojnyi proezd 9/10 office 350

P.O. Box 15 Moscow 113403 Russian Federation

Ms Maria José Vazquez Tel.: +34 93 431 4548

International Community of Women Living with Email: mjvazquezn@wanadoo.es

HIV/AIDS (ICW) C/Sants 2-4 08014 Barcelona Spain

Email: trc_healthgap@msn.com

Latin America & the Caribbean – Amérique latine et les Caraïbes

Dr Rubén Mayorga Tel.: +502 220-1332 / 253-3453

Executive Director Fax: +502 232-1021

Organización de Apoyo a una Sexualidad Integral

frenta al SIDA, OASIS 6 Avenida 1-63 Zona 1 Guatemala City 01001

Guatemala

Ms Jacqueline Rocha-Côrtes Tel.: +55 17 225 8196 Red Latinoamericana de Personas Viviendo con Fax: +55 17 231 8335

el HIV/SIDA (RED LA+)

Rua Clemar Angelo Malvezzi 80

Fax: +55 17 231 8335

Email: jacquelinerocha@terra.com.br

Jardim do Bosque II, 15053-030 São José do Rio Preto

São Paulo Brazil

North America – Amérique du Nord

Ms Kim Nichols

African Services Committee

429 West 127th Street

Tel.: +1 212 222 3882

Fax: +1 212 222 7067

Email: africanserve@att.net

New York, N.Y. 10027

Mr T. Richard Corcoran Tel.: +1 917 548 9595

Health Global Access Project (Health GAP)

197 Columbia Street Brooklyn, New York

N.Y. 11231

II. OBSERVERS – OBSERVATEURS

<u>Member States – Etats membres</u>

<u>Algeria – Algérie</u>

Mlle Dahl Soltani Tel.: +41 22 959 8484 Deuxième secrétaire Fax: +41 22 774 3049

Mission permanente de la République algérienne auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève

Route de Lausanne 308

1293 Bellevue

Andorra – Andorre

Mme Yolanda Nadal Tel.: +41 22 732 6060 Conseillère Fax: +41 22 732 6068

Mission permanente de la Principauté Email: mission.andorra@ties.itu.int d'Andorre auprès de l'Office des Nations

Unies à Genève

Rue de Chantepoulet 1-3 (7^{ème} étage)

1201 Genève

Angola

Dr Eduardo Neto Sangueve Tel.: +41 22 732 3060 First Secretary Fax: +41 22 732 3072

Permanent Mission of Angola to the United Nations

Office in Geneva Rue de Lausanne 45-47 1201 Geneva

Dr Sandra Neto de Miranda Assistant for Health Permanent Mission of Angola to the United Nations Office in Geneva Rue de Lausanne 45-47 1201 Geneva

Australia – Australie

Mr Peter Callan Tel.: +41 22 799 9108 Counsellor (Development) Fax: +41 22 799 9190

Permanent Mission of Australia to the Email: peter.callan@dfat.gov.au

United Nations Office in Geneva Chemin des Fins 2

Chemin des Fins 2 1211 Geneva 19

Mr Cameron Hill Tel.: +41 22 799 9125 Adviser (AID) Fax: +41 22 799 9190

Permanent Mission of Australia to the Email: cameron.hill-gene@dfat.gov.au United Nations Office in Geneva

Chemin des Fins 2 1211 Geneva 19

Ms Leonie Oates-Mercier Tel.: +41 22 799 9107 Executive Assistant Fax: +41 22 799 9190

Permanent Mission of Australia to the United Nations Office in Geneva Email: leonie.oates-mercier@dfat.gov.au

Chemin des Fins 2

C.P. 172

1211 Geneva 19

Austria – Autriche

Dr Jean Paul Klein Tel.: +43 1 71100 4103 Federal Ministry of Health and Women's Affairs Fax: +43 1 7189470 1520

Abt. III/A1 Radetzkystr. 2 A-1030 Vienna

Bangladesh

H.E. Dr Toufiq Ali
Ambassador, Permanent Representative of
Tel.: +41 22 906 8020
Fax: +41 22 738 4616

Bangladesh to the United Nations Office in Geneva Rue de Lausanne 65

Mr Kazi Imtiaz Hossain Tel.: +41 22 906 8020 Counsellor Fax: +41 22 738 4616

Permanent Mission of Bangladesh to the United Nations Office in Geneva Rue de Lausanne 65 1202 Geneva

Belarus – Bélarus

Mr Andrei Molchan Tel.: +41 22 748 2450 Counsellor Fax: +41 22 748 2451

Permanent Mission of the Republic of Belarus to the United Nations Office in Geneva Avenue de la Paix 15 1211 Geneva 20

Belgium – Belgique

S.E. M. Michel Adam

Ambassadeur et Représentant permanent
de la Belgique auprès de l'Office des

Tel.: +41 22 730 4000

Fax: +41 22 734 5079

Nations Unies à Genève Rue de Moillebeau 58

1209 Genève

M. Antoon Delie Tel.: +41 22 733 5755 Conseiller Fax: +41 22 733 5757 Mission Permanente de la Belgique auprès de

l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève Rue de Moillebeau 58

1209 Genève

Mme Jana Zikmundova Conseillère Mission Permanente de la Belgique auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève Rue de Moillebeau 58 1209 Genève

M. Jacques Laruelle
Médecin, Chargé de Programme
Service Nations Unies et Organisations
Internationales, Programmes Multilatéraux
Direction générale de la Coopération Internationale
Rue Brederode 6
Bruxelles

Mme Florence Duvieusart Attaché de la Coopération Mission permanente de la Belgique auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève Rue de Moillebeau 58 1209 Genève

Cameroon - Cameroun

M. Martin Lacdanné Zoua Tel.: +41 22 787 5040 Premier conseiller Fax: +41 22 736 2165

Mission permanente de la République du Cameroun auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève Rue du Nant 6 1207 Genève

Congo

Mme Delphine Bikouta

Premier conseiller

Mission permanente de la République du Congo auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève

Tel.: +41 22 731 8821

Fax: +41 22 731 8817

Email: mission.congo.brazza@deckpoint.ch

Rue du Grand-Pré 11

1202 Genève

<u>Dominican Republic – République Dominicaine</u>

Dr José García Ramírez Executive Director Presidential Council for HIV/AIDS (COPRESIDA)

Mr Jaime de la Rosa Technical Coordinator, COPRESIDA

Dr Manuel Tejada Subsecretario de Atención Primaria de la Secretaria de Estado de Salud y Asistencia Social

Dr Yvelisse Acosta National Director for Tuberculosis Secretaria de Estado de Salud y Asistencia Social

Dr William Jana Tactuck Director Instituto Dominicano de Seguro Social (IDSS)

Dr Ramón Portes Carrasco Coalición ONG/SIDA

Dr Jesús Feris Iglesia Director del CERSS

Dr Magaly Bello de Kemper

Counsellor

Permanent Mission of the Dominican Republic to the United Nations Office in Geneva

Rue de Lausanne 63 (7^{2me} étage)

Mr Fabio Herrera-Roa COPRESIDA

Ethiopia – Éthiopie

Ms Showawork Amin Oumer Tel.: +41 22 919 7010
Third Secretary Fax: +41 22 919 7029

Permanent Mission of Ethiopia to the United Nations

Office in Geneva 56, rue de Moillebeau P.O. Box 338 1211 Geneva 19

<u>Finland – Finlande</u>

Mr Matti Jaskari Counsellor Ministry for Foreign Affairs Helsinki

Ms Kristiina Häikiö Tel.: +41 22 919 4242 Counsellor Fax: +41 22 740 0287

Permanent Mission of Finland to the United

Nations Office in Geneva Rue Pré-de-la-Bichette 1 Case postale 198 1211 Geneva 20

Mr Pekka Holmström Epidemiologist National Public Health

National Public Health Institute

Helsinki

 Mr Anton Santanen
 Tel.: +41 22 919 4242

 Intern
 Fax: +41 22 740 0287

Permanent Mission of Finland to the United Nations

Office in Geneva Rue Pré-de-la-Bichette 1 Case postale 198 1211 Geneva 20

Gabon

Madame Marionette Angone Abena Tel.: +41 22 731 6869 Conseillère Fax: +41 22 731 6847

Mission permanente de la République gabonaise auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève Avenue Blanc 47

Avenue Blanc 47 1202 Geneva

<u>Germany – Allemagne</u>

Mr Thomas Kirsch-Woik
Senior Consultant
GTZ/Epos
C/o GTZ Berlin
Tel.: +49 30 726 14404
Fax: 149 30 726 14130
Email: Kirsch-Woik@epos.de

Reichspietschufer 20 D-10785 Berlin

Email: mission.holy-see@ties.itu.int

Email: mission.holy-see@ties.itu.int

Ms Dorle Miesala-Edel Tel.: +49 1888 441 3210 Head of Division "Prevention of AIDS" Fax: +49 1888 441 4260

Federal Ministry of Health and Social Security Email: dorle.miesala-ede-@bmgs.bund.de

Am Propsthof 78a 53121 Bonn

Mr Ingo von Voss

Counsellor

Tel.: +41 22 730 1248
Fax: +41 22 730 1285

Permanent Mission of Germany to the United

Nations Office in Geneva Chemin du Petit-Saconnex 28c 1209 Geneva

<u>Ghana</u>

H.E. Mr Fritz K. Poku Tel.: +41 22 919 0450 Ambassador and Permanent Representative Fax: +41 22 734 9161

Permanent Mission of Ghana to the United Nations

Office in Geneva Rue de Moillebeau 56 1209 Geneva

Ms Matilda A. Alomatu Tel.: +41 22 919 0450 First Secretary Fax: +41 22 734 9161

Permanent Mission of Ghana to the United Nations Office in Geneva

Rue de Moillebeau 56 1209 Geneva

Holy See – Saint-Siège

S.E. Mgr Silvano M. Tomasi Tel.: +41 22 758 9820 Nonce apostolique Fax: +41 22 758 1729

Observateur permanent du Saint-Siège auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève

Chemin du Vengeron 16

Case postale 28 1292 Chambésy

M. Guido Castelli Gattinara

Tel.: +41 22 758 9820

Expert

Fax: +41 22 758 1729

Mission permanente du Saint-Siège auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève

Chemin du Vengeron 16

Case postale 28 1292 Chambésy

Mme Anne-Marie Colandrea Tel.: +41 22 758 9820 Experte Fax: +41 22 758 1729

Mission permanente du Saint-Siège auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève

Chemin du Vengeron 16

Case postale 28 1292 Chambésy M. Giuliano Rizzardini Tel.: +41 22 758 9820 Expert Fax: +41 22 758 1729

Expert Fax: +41 22 758 1729

Mission permanente du Saint-Siège auprès de Email: mission.holy-see@ties.itu.int

l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève Chemin du Vengeron 16

1292 Chambésy

Ireland – Irlande

Dr Margaret Fitzgerald Tel.: +353 1 635 2115

Representative Development Coop. I Email: mgt.fitzgerald@erha.ie

Department of Public Health Eastern Region HA

Dr Steevens Hospital

Dublin 8

Italy - Italie

Ms Lucia Fiori

First Counsellor

Permanent Mission of Italy to the United Nations

Tel.: +41 22 918 0810

Fax: +41 22 734 6702

Email: lucia.fiori@ties.itu.int

Office at Geneva Chemin de l'Impératrice 10

1292 Pregny

Mr Pasqualino Procacci Tel.: +39 06 3691 6257

Senior Officer – DGCS – MOFA Email: pasqualino.procacci@esteri.it Italian Ministry for Foreign Affairs

P. le della Farnesina

Rome

Ms Valentina Maridati Tel.: +41 22 918 0826

Attaché Fax: +41 22 734 6702 Permanent Mission of Italy to the United Nations

Office in Geneva

Chemin de l'Impératrice 10

1292 Pregny

<u>Jordan – Jordanie</u>

Mr Hussam Al Husseini Tel.: +41 22 748 2000 First Secretary Fax: +41 22 748 2001

Permanent Mission of the Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan to the United Nations Office in Geneva

Rue de Vermont 37-39

1202 Geneva 2

Luxembourg

S.E. M. Alphonse Berns Tel.: + 41 22 919 1929 Ambassadeur, Représentant permanent Fax: +41 22 919 1920

du Luxembourg auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève

Chemin de la Rochette 13 (4^{ème} étage)

1202 Genève

Tel.: +41 22 748 0705

Fax: +41 22 748 0708

Docteur Robert Hemmer Centre Hospitalier Luxembourgeois Service des Maladies infectieuses

Docteur Carole Kapp Attaché Mission permanente du Grand-Duché de Luxembourg auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève Chemin de la Rochette 13 (4ème étage) 1202 Genève

Mme Natascha Gomes Chargé de Mission Ministère des Affaires Etrangères Luxembourg

Madagascar

M. Jean-Michel Rasolonjatovo

Premier conseiller

Mission permanente de la République de Madagascar auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève

Avenue Riant-Parc 32

1209 Genève

Tel.: +41 22 740 1650

Fax: +41 22 740 1616

Malawi

Mr Rex G. Mpazanje

Director of Clinical Services

Ministry of Health

P.O. Box 30377

Tel.: +265 1 789 400

Fax: +265 1 789 400

Email: mpazanje@yahoo.com

Mr Eric Schouten Tel.: +265 1 789 400
HIV/AIDS Coordinator Fax: +265 1 789 431
Ministry of Health Email: eschouten@.mw.msh.org

P.O. Box 31118 Lilongwe

Lilongwe 3

Mexico – Mexique

Ms Dulce Valle
Counsellor
Permanent Mission of Mexico to the
United Nations Office in Geneva
Avenue de Budé 16, 7th floor
1202 Geneva

Email: Vicki.poole@mfat.govt.nz

Monaco

Mlle Carole Lanteri Tel.: +41 22 919 0460 Premier Secrétaire Fax: +41 22 919 0469

Mission permanente de la Principauté de Monaco auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève

Rue de Moillebeau 56

1209 Genève

M. Alexandre Jahlan Tel.: +41 22 919 0460 Troisième Secrétaire Fax: +41 22 919 0469

Mission permanente de la Principauté de Monaco auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève

Rue de Moillebeau 56

1209 Genève

Morocco - Maroc

Mme Siham Bouassa Tel.: +41 22 791 8181 Conseiller Fax: +41 22 791 8180

Mission permanente du Royaume du Maroc auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève

Chemin François-Lehmann 18a

Case postale 244 1218 Grand-Saconnex

New Zealand – Nouvelle Zélande

Ms Vicky Poole Tel.: +64 4 439 8004 Multilateral Programme Manager Fax: +64 4 439 8515

New Zealand Agency for International Development

Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade

Private Bag 18-901

Wellington

Nigeria – Nigéria

H.E. Mr J.U. Ayalogu Tel.: +41 22 730 1414 Ambassador and Permanent Representative of Fax: +41 22 734 1053

Nigeria to the United Nations Office in Geneva

Rue Richard Wagner 1

1211 Geneva 2

Mr John Chika Ejinaka Tel.: +41 22 730 1414 Minister Counsellor Fax: +41 22 734 1053

Permanent Mission of Nigeria to the United Nations

Office in Geneva Rue Richard Wagner 1

1211 Geneva 2

Norway – Norvège

Mr Jon Brodholt

Adviser

Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Oslo

Email: international@aids.gov.pl

Email: Renata.Lemieszewska@ties.itu.int

Ms Turid Kongsvik Tel.: +41 22 918 0400 Counsellor Fax: +41 22 918 0410

Permanent Mission of Norway to the United Nations

Office in Geneva 35 Bis, avenue de Budé

1202 Geneva

Peru - Pérou

Mme Eliana Beraun Escudero

Deuxième secrétaire

Mission permanente du Pérou auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies

Avenue Louis Casaï 71

Tel.: +41 22 791 7720

Fax: +41 22 791 7728

Case postale 160 1216 Cointrin

Poland - Pologne

Mrs Katarzyna Walkowska-Iwianska Tel.: +48 22 331 7777 International Relations Expert Fax: +48 22 331 7776

National Centre for AIDS Ul. Samsonowska 1 02829 Warsaw

Ms Renata Lemieszewska Tel.: +41 22 710 9711 First Secretary Fax: +41 22 710 9799

Permanent Mission of the Republic of Poland to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Chemin de l'Ancienne Route 15

Case postale 130 1218 Grand-Saconnex

Portugal

Mme Ana Filgueiras Commission nationale de Lutte contre le SIDA Lisbonne

M. Paulo Barcia

Conseiller

Mission permanente du Portugal auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève

Tel.: +41 22 918 0200

Fax: +41 22 918 0228

Rue Antoine-Carteret 33

1202 Geneva

Republic of Korea - République de Corée

Mr Hyo-hwan Ahn

Counsellor

Permanent Mission of the Republic of Korea
to the United Nations Office in Geneva

Tel.: +41 22 748 0032
Fax: +41 22 748 0002
Email: ohhas@hanmail.net

Avenue de l'Ariana 1 Case postale 42 1211 Geneva 20

Romania – Roumanie

H.E. Dr Aurel Nechita

Secretary of State

Ministry of Health

Tel.: +4021 307 2501

Fax: +4021 312 2212

Email: anechita@dnt.ro

1-3 Cristian Popisteanu Street, Sector 1

Bucharest

Dr Dana Otilia Farcasanu

Counsellor to the Minister of Health

Ministry of Health

Tel.: +4021 307 2690

Fax: +4021 312 2212

Email: dfarcasanu@dnt.ro

1-3 Cristian Popisteanu Street, Sector 1

Bucharest

Saudi Arabia - Arabie saoudite

Mr Mohammed Al-Agail Tel.: +41 22 758 9777 First Secretary Fax: +41 22 758 0000

Permanent Mission of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia to the United Nations Office in Geneva

Route de Lausanne 263 1292 Chambésy

Senegal – Sénégal

S.E. M. Ousmane Camara Tel.: +41 22 918 0230 Ambassadeur Fax: +41 22 740 0711

Représentant permanent de la République du Sénégal auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève

Rue de la Servette 93

1202 Genève

M. Daouda Maliguèye Sene Tel.: +41 22 918 0230 Ministre Conseiller Fax: +41 22 740 0711

Mission permanente de la République du Sénégal auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève

Rue de la Servette 93

1202 Genève

M. André Basse Tel.: +41 22 918 0230 Premier secrétaire Fax: +41 22 740 0711

Mission permanente de la République du Sénégal auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève

Rue de la Servette 93

1202 Genève

Docteur Ibra Ndoye

Secrétaire Exécutif

Tel.: +221 8 690909

Fax: +221 8 671755

Conseil national de Lutte contre le Sida (CNLS)

P.O. Box 3435

Dakar

Mme Katy Cisse Wone Adjoint au Secrétaire Exécutif Conseil national de Lutte contre le Sida (CNLS) P.O. Box 3435 Dakar

South Africa – Afrique du Sud

Ms Daisy Mafubelu Tel.: +41 22 849 5442 Counsellor (Health) Fax: +41 22 849 5438

Permanent Mission of South Africa to the Email: daisy.mafubelu@ties.itu.int

United Nations Office in Geneva

Rue du Rhône 65 1204 Geneva

Sweden – Suède

H.E. Mr Lennart Hjelmåker Tel.: +46 8 405 1000 Ambassador Fax: +46 8 723 1176

Ministry for Foreign Affairs

103 39 Stockholm

 Mr Bengt Gunnar Herrström
 Tel.: +46 8 405 1000

 Counsellor
 Fax: +46 8 723 1176

Ministry for Foreign Affairs

Stockholm

 Mr Tomas Lundström
 Tel.: +46 8 698 5000

 Program Officer
 Fax: +46 8 208 864

Swedish International Development Cooperation

Agency (SIDA) Sveavägen

10 5 25 Stockholm

Ms Lotta Roos Tel.: +46 8 698 5000 Program Officer Fax: +46 8 208 864

Swedish International Development Cooperation

Agency (SIDA) Stockholm

Ms Pia Stavås Tel.: +41 22 908 0800 Counsellor Fax: +41 22 908 0810

Permanent Mission of Sweden to the United Nations

Office at Geneva Rue de Lausanne 82 1202 Geneva

Thailand – Thailande

Mr Witchu Vejjajiva Tel.: +41 22 715 1010 First Secretary Fax: +41 22 715 1000

Permanent Mission of Thailand to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Rue Gustave Moynier 5

Tunisia – Tunisie

S.E. M. Habib Mansour

Tel.: +41 22 749 1550

Ambassadeur, Représentant permanent de la

Fax: +41 22 734 0663

Tunisie auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies

à Genève

Rue de Moillebeau 58 Case postale 272 1211 Genève

M. Hatem Landoulsi Tel.: +41 22 749 1550 Conseiller Fax: +41 22 734 0663

Mission permanente de la Tunisie auprès de l'Office

des Nations Unies à Genève

Rue de Moillebeau 58 Case postale 272

1211 Genève

<u>United States of America – États-Unis d'Amérique</u>

H.E. Ambassador John Lange Deputy Coordinator Office of the Global AIDS Coordinator Department of State Washington, D.C.

Mr Victor Barbiero Chief of Implementation Support Division Office of HIV/AIDS Bureau of Global Health U.S. Agency for International Development Washington, D.C.

Ms Jane Cowley Foreign Affairs Officer Office of Technical and Specialized Agencies Department of State Washington, D.C.

Mr David Hohman Tel.: +41 22 749 4111 Health Attaché Fax: +41 22 749 4880

United States Mission to the United Nations Office

in Geneva

Route de Pregny 11 1292 Chambésy

Zambia – Zambie

H.E. Dr Brian Chituwo Tel.: +2601 253 882 Minister of Health Fax: +2601 253 963 Ndeke House

P.O. Box 30205

Lusaka

Email: katendayulu@hotmail.com

Email: mhaourknipe@iom.int

H.E. Mr Love Mtesa Tel.: +41 22 788 5330 Ambassador and Permanent Representative Fax: +41 22 788 5340

of Zambia to the United Nations Office in Geneva

17-19 Chemin du Champ-d'Anier

1209 Geneva

Dr Benson Chirwa Tel.: +2601 253 882 Director, Central Health Board of Zambia Fax: +2601 253 0415

Ministry of Health

Hdeke House, P.O. Box 30205

Lusaka

Mr Alfonso Zulu Tel.: +41 22 788 5330 First Secretary Fax: +41 22 788 5340

Permanent Mission of Zambia to the United

Nations Office in Geneva

17-19 Chemin du Champ-d'Anier

1209 Geneva

Zimbabwe

H.E. Mr Chitsaka Chipaziwa
Tel.: +41 22 758 30 11
Ambassador and Permanent Representative of the
Fax: +41 22 758 3044

Republic of Zimbabwe to the United Nations Office

in Geneva

Chemin William Barbey 27

1292 Chambésy

Mr Brighton Mugarisanwa

Counsellor

Permanent Mission of the Republic of Zimbabwe to the

United Nations Office in Geneva

Chemin William Barbey 27

1292 Chambésy

<u>Intergovernmental Organizations – Organisations intergouvernementales</u>

Ms Mary Haour-Knipe Tel.: +41 22 717 9234 Senior Advisor: Migration and HIV/AIDS Fax: +41 22 798 6150

Migration Health Services

International Organization for Migration

Headquarters, Geneva 17 route des Morillons

C.P. 71

CH-1211 Geneva 19

H.E. Mme Sophie Asimenyc Kalinde

Tel.: +41 22 716 0640

Ambassador and Permanent Observer

Fax: +41 22 731 6818

Permanent Delegation of the African Union in Geneva

36, rue des Pâquis

C.P. 127

Email: Elhadj.sy@theglobalfund.org

Mr Venant Wege Nzomwita Tel.: +41 22 716 0640 Counsellor Fax: +41 22 731 6818

Permanent Delegation of the African Union in Geneva

36, rue des Pâquis

C.P. 127

1211 Geneva 21

Dr Elhadj Sy
Senior Director

Tel.: +41 22 791 1700
Fax: +41 22 791 1701

The Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis

and Malaria

Avenue Louis Casaï 53

1216 Cointrin

M. Mohamed Lamine Mouaki

Counsellor

Permanent Delegation of the League of Arab States to the United Nations Office in Geneva

Rue du Valais 9 1202 Geneva

M. Osman El-Hajje

Attaché

Permanent Delegation of the League of Arab States to the United Nations Office in Geneva

Rue du Valais 9

1202 Geneva

<u>United Nations System Organizations – Organisations du Système des Nations Unies</u>

Mr James Heenan Tel.: +41 22 917 9179 HIV/AIDS Focal Point Fax: +41 22 917 9010

Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights

Palais des Nations CH-1211 Geneva 10

Mr Marcel Boisard Tel.: +41 22 917 8515 Executive Director Fax: +41 22 917 8047

UNITAR Email: marcel.boisard@unitar.org

International Environment House Chemin des Anémones 11-13

CH-1219 Châtela ine

Dr Jean-Louis Lamboray Tel.: +41 22 917 8675 Principal Coordinator Fax: +41 22 917 8047

UNAIDS/UNITAR Email: lamborayJ@unaids.org AIDS Competence Programme

International Environment House Chemin des Anémones 11-13

CH-1219 Châtelaine

Nongovernmental Organizations - Organisations non gouvernementales

Mr Richard A. Frank
President
Population Services International
Tel.: +1 202 785 0072
Fax: +1 202 785 0120
Email: info@psi.org

1120 19th Street, N.W., Suite 600

Washington, D.C. 20036

Mr Richard Burzynski Tel.: +1 416 921 0018 ext. 15

Executive Director Fax: +1 416 921 9979 ICASO Email: richardb@icaso.org

65 Wellesley St. E, Suite 403

Toronto, Ontario Canada M4Y 1G7

Dr Musimbi Kanyoro Tel.: +41 22 929 6045 General Secretary Fax: +41 22 929 6044

World Young Women's Christian Association Email: musimbi.kanyoro@worldywca.org

16 Ancienne Route 1218 Grand Saconnex

Geneva

Ms Inger Sofie Nordback

Soroptimist International

8 ch. du Jura

Tel.: +41 22 776 1138

Fax: +41 22 776 8838

Email: nordback@span.ch

CH-1299 Crans

Ms Judith Verkooijen Tel.: +44 207 794 1181 WAGGGS UN Representative, Geneva Team Fax: +44 207 431 3764

World Association of Girl Guides and Girl Scouts

World Bureau Olave Centre 12c Lyndhurst Road London NW3 5PQ United Kingdom

Mr Florian Hübner Tel.: +41 22 700 1501 Director Fax: +41 22 700 1547

Groupe SIDA Genève Email: florian.hubner@groupesida.ch

17 rue Pierre-Fatio 1204 Genève

Mr Roberto Induni Tel.: +41 44 447 1111 Director Fax: +41 44 447 1112

Swiss AIDS Federation Email: roberto.induni@aids.ch

P.O. Box 1118 8031 Zurich

Mr Kieran Daly Tel.: +44 1273 718977 Policy Advisor Fax: +44 1273 718901

International HIV/AIDS Alliance Email: kdaly@aidsalliance.org

Queensbury House 104-106 Queens Road Brighton BN1 3XF United Kingdom Dr Tesfamicael Ghebrehiwet

Consultant, Nursing and Health Policy
International Council of Nurses

Tel.: +41 22 908 0100
Fax: +41 22 908 0101
Email: tesfa@icn.ch

3, place Jean-Marteau

1201 Geneva

Mr Viatcheslav Smolenskiy

Executive Secretary of the Advisory Council
on HIV/AIDS of the Russian Federation

Tel.: +7 095 232 5599
Fax: +7 095 232 5599
Email: aidscouncil@gsen.ru

Per. Obuha 6 office 205

Moscow

Russian Federation

Dr Milton Amayun

Senior HIV/AIDS Technical Advisor and Program

Representative

Tel.: +1 616 850 0922

Fax: +1 616 846 3842

Email: iamilton@aol.com

World Vision International

18745 Sioux Dr.

Spring Lake, MI 49456

USA

Mr Stuart Flavell Tel.: +31 20 423 4114 International Coordinator Fax: +31 20 423 4224

The Global Network of People Living

with HIV/AIDS P.O. Box 11726 1001GS Amsterdam The Netherlands

M. Gilbert Coutau Tel.: +41 22 329 2845 Représentant ONU Fax: +41 22 329 2888 Rotary International Email: gcc@vtx.ch

Chemin de l'Escalade 1

New York, N.Y. 10022

1206 Genève

Others - Autres

Dr Nafis Sadik

Special Envoy of the UN Secretary General
for HIV/AIDS in Asia

Tel.: +1 212 826 5025

Fax: +1 212 758 1529

Email: sadik@unfpa.org

300 East 56th Street, Apt. 9J

USA